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MHSC Vision and Mission
The Vision and Mission of the MHSC were reviewed and confirmed as follows:

Vision of the Mine Health and Safety Council
A world class health and safety performance for mine workers and affected communities.

Mission of the Mine Health and Safety Council
“To promote health and safety culture in the Mining industry and provide current advice on Mine Health and Safety Issues 
through tripartite partnership”.

Affirmation of the MHSC’s Mandate and Core Business
The MHSC responsibilities are governed by section 43 and 44 of the MHSA which establishes its core roles. 
These are:

• To advise the Minister on all occupational health and safety issues in the mining industry relating to legislation,  
 research and promotion.
• To review and develop legislation for recommendation to the Minister.
• To promote health and safety in the mining industry.
• To oversee research in relation to health and safety in the mining industry.
• To liaise with other bodies concerned with health and safety issues. 
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Glossary

 Acronyms and Abbreviations

 AidS Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
 ATR Annual Training Report
 CEO  Chief Executive Officer
 CFO Chief Financial Officer
 CIOM Chief Inspector of Mines
 COP Code of practice
 CROO Chief Research and Operations Officer
 CSIR Council of Scientific and Industrial Research
 DMR Department of Mineral Resources
 doL Department of Labour
 HIRA Hazard Identification, Risk Assessment
 HiV  Human Immunodeficiency Virus
 HR Human Resources
 ICOH International Congress on Occupational Health
 ILO International Labour Organisation
 iNH Isoniazid
 IPR Intellectual Property Right
 MDR Multi Drug Resistant
 MHSA Mine Health and Safety Act (No. 29 of 1996) as amended in 2008
 MHSC Mine Health and Safety Council (‘Council’)
 MHSi Mine Health and safety Inspectorate (‘Inspectorate’)
 MMOA Mine Medical Officers Association
 MOHAC Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee
 MRAC Mine Regulations Advisory Committee
 MQA Mining Qualifications Authority
 NiHL Noise Induced Hearing Loss
 OHS Occupational Health and Safety
 PATHAUT Pathology Autopsy Database
 PFMA Public Finance Management Act (No. 1 of 1999)
 SANS South African National Standards
 SAMRASS South African Mines Reportable Accidents Statistical System
 SCM Supply Chain Management
 SIMRAC Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee
 TB  Tuberculosis
 WSP Workplace Skills Plan
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Glossary

Terms and Definitions

Chief Inspector means the officer appointed in terms of section 48(1) of the Mine Health and Safety Act, 1996, and includes 
any officer acting in that capacity.

Council means the Mine Health and Safety Council established in terms of Section 41(1) of the Mine Health and Safety  
Act, 1996, as amended.

Hazard means a source of, or exposure to danger.

Health Hazard means any physical, chemical or biological hazard to health including anything declared to be a health hazard 
by the Minister.

Mine means any excavation and activity where mineral deposits are mined; all buildings, structures, machinery, dumps, roads or 
objects that are used during the winning, exploitation, and processing of a mineral.

Minister means the South African Minister of Mineral Resources.

Occupational health includes occupational hygiene and occupational medicine.

Occupational hygiene means the anticipation, recognition, evaluation and control of conditions at a mine that may cause 
illness or adverse health effects to persons.

Occupational medicine means the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of illness, injury and adverse health effects associated 
with a particular type of work.

Risk means the likelihood that occupational injury or harm to persons will occur.

SiM refers to MHSC research projects. The 6-number digit indicates a Period/Thrust Area/Allocation, for example,  
SIM 04 09 07 refers to research project approved during 2004, within the Thrust area No. 9, (Special Projects), and allocated 
the random number seven.

Strategic objectives represent organisational  outcomes that are critical to the achievement of the MHSC’s mission for a 
period of three years. Initiatives are the activities necessary to achieve the strategic objectives.
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cHaPter 1: cHaIrPerson’s oVerVIeW

tHe MHsc reMaIns coMMItted 
to Its VIsIon of “a World class 
HealtH and safety PerforMance 
for MIne Workers and affected 
coMMunItIes”

Thabo Gazi - Chairperson

The Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC) is a public entity whose responsibilities are governed by Section 43 and 44 of the 
amended MHSA (of 2008) which establishes its core mandate as:
• To advise the Minister on all occupational health and safety (OHS) issues in the mining industry relating to legislation, research  
 and promotion.
• To review and develop legislation for recommendation to the Minister.
• To promote health and safety in the mining industry.
• To oversee research in relation to health and safety in the mining industry.
• To liaise with other bodies concerned with health and safety issues.

The MHSC’s mission is “To promote health and safety culture in the Mining industry and provide current advice on Mine Health 
and Safety Issues through tripartite partnership”.

The MHSC remains committed to its vision of “A World class health and safety performance for mine workers and affected 
communities”.  While the challenges to the sector in the past year have been arduous and our major consideration was creating 
more organisational stability, we have not lost sight of our obligation to promote health and safety in the mining sector. 

The challenge for the South African mining industry to improve its track record on health and safety has been ubiquitous over 
the last decade and will remain up until the target of ZERO HARM has been achieved. The leadership summit and the resulting 
action plan to drive the achievement of the health and safety milestones has become the yardstick against which all health 
and safety initiatives will be measured. The outcomes of the recently completed Presidential audit increased the focus on the 
initiatives to reach these milestones.  

When comparing the safety performance for January to December 2008 to that of 2009, there has been a marginal reduction 
from 171 fatalities to 167 fatalities. From the milestones that were set in 2003, the South African Mining Sector has to improve 
a minimum of 20% per annum to reach the targets by 2013. 
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cHaIrMan’s oVerVIeW continued...

Occupational health impacts remain difficult to quantify since many health effects are not immediately observable.  
Even so, it has been established that occupational lung diseases remain a major cause of premature retirement and death at 
South African mines. 

The most number of fatalities are attributed to rockbursts, which accounts for as much as three times that of conveyance 
related incidents and almost 4.5 times that of gravity induced falls of ground.  MHSC has funded more than 50 projects on 
rockbursts and rockfalls however the challenge still remains. 

In support of the drive towards ZERO HARM, the MHSC identified the following areas where significant challenges are being 
experienced and commissioned research in these related areas. 
• Dynamic rock-related failures;
• Dust from Tailings Disposal Facilities and the impact on surrounding communities;
• Tuberculosis in the mining industry;
• Increasing the awareness of risks posed by Thermal Stress;
• Monitoring and Reporting on health related issues; and
• Controls towards eradicating noise induced hearing loss.

These areas together with the continuation research projects focusing on falls of ground and silicosis remain research activities 
of improving OHS performance in the mining sector. 

In working towards the industry’s 2013 OHS milestones, a review of the OHS culture is considered important, with all 
stakeholders identifying that the values, attitudes and beliefs about OHS can significantly enhance the industry’s capacity to 
improve OHS performance.  

The Changing Minds, Changing Mines project builds on the significant research and that has already been undertaken on OHS 
in the South African mining industry.  A MHSC-funded project surveyed the OHS culture in the industry in 2005 and found that 
the industry’s OHS culture was significantly more negative than international comparisons.  A key difference was a much greater 
focus on compliance with formal systems in the South African industry.  The Changing Minds, Changing Minds project which 
will develop a framework for transforming the culture of OHS in the mining industry was initiated in the past year and will be 
completed in the next financial year.

The strategic activities for the year focussed on providing advice to the Minister on challenges faced by miners in accessing TB 
treatment facilities in mining regions; feedback on the Silicosis roadshow; the need for a review of the compensation system and 
challenges for mine workers; and work completed by MHSC on Methane Explosions in relation to recent accidents.

The MHSC reviewed and submitted legislation to the Department of Mineral Resources covering topics on ‘falls of ground’, 
Off-shore installations, and Chapter 17 regulations on survey, mapping and mine plans.

The MHSC reports to the Minister of Mineral Resources and the Minister appoints members to serve on the Council.  The 
MHSC adheres to the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), and applies the South African Statements 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) in presenting its 
Annual Financial Statements.
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It must be stated that the achievements in reducing the number of fatalities within the mining industry has been immense. The 
challenge of ensuring a target of zero harm to all workers still remains. During this year, the MHSC conferred 58 Safety Awards 
to mines and I wish to congratulate all the winners on their achievement. 

In the 2009/10 financial year the organisation developed and implemented a strategy that had short, medium and long term 
interventions to ensure that we improve focus on our key customer, building internal capacity, improve financial management 
and continuous learning and growth. The priorities identified by stakeholders at the summit in 2008 and the outcomes of the 
presidential compliance audit were the basis for MHSC’s activities during the 2009/10 financial year.

In undertaking its work the MHSC has established committees to assist with the work. The committees are SIMRAC which  
assists MHSC with research priorities, MRAC which focuses on reviewing legislation and standards and MOHAC which  
advises MHSC on health matters. In addition, the MHSC has also established the Audit Committee to advise it on compliance  
to relevant legislation. 

I wish to thank the MHSC members, SIMRAC, MOHAC, MRAC and Audit Committee members, our stakeholders and staff for 
their commitment in striving for ZERO HARM in the mining industry.

Thabo Gazi
Chairperson: Mine Health and Safety Council
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Mandate 

The Mine Health and Safety Council is a national public entity (Schedule 3A) established in terms of the Mine Health and Safety 
Act, No 29 of 1996, as amended. 

The entity comprises a tripartite council represented by State, Employer and employees, and Labour members under 
chairmanship of the Chief Inspector of Mines. The MHSC is funded by allocations and levies from the Department of Mineral 
Resources and is accountable to Parliament.

The main task of the MHSC is to advise the Minister of Mineral Resources on occupational health and safety legislation and 
research outcomes focused on improving and promoting occupational health and safety in South African mines. The MHSC also 
oversees the activities of its committees; promotes a culture of health and safety in the mining industry; arranges a summit 
every two years to review the state of occupational health and safety at mines; and liaises with the Mining Qualifications  
Authority and any other statutory bodies about mining OHS issues in the mining sector.  

The Committees of the MHSC, SIMRAC, MRAC, MOHAC and Audit are established with the following functions:  
• MRAC advises the MHSC on proposed regulatory changes, guidelines for codes of  practice; and on national standards to  
 be approved by the South African Bureau of Standards. 
• MOHAC is tasked to advise the MHSC on health policies, standards, systems and procedures related to occupational  
 health risks, health regulations, health research and health data. 
• SIMRAC is tasked to advise the MHSC on the OHS research programme; establishes criteria for determining the  
 funding of health and safety research; evaluates research proposals; and oversees the research programme and the  
 technology transfer of research outcomes.  
• Audit committee is established in terms of Treasury Regulation 27.1.1 to assist the MHSC in discharging its duties relating  
 to the safeguarding of assets, the operation of adequate systems, control processes and the preparation of accurate financial  
 reporting and statements in compliance with all applicable legal requirements and accounting standards.

cHaPter 2: MHsc ProfIle and Mandate
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cHaPter 2: MHsc ProfIle and Mandate

Structure 

The MHSC functions according to the following organisational structure: 

MHSC Office

The Office is responsible for executing the operational objectives of the MHSC and the functions are structured as follows:
 
Office of the CEO:  Office Management, Human Resource Administration, Communication and Special Projects.
Office of CFO: Finance and Information Technology.
Office of the CROO: Research and Committee Administration.

Mine Health and Safety 
Council

State
Labour
Employers

Audit Committee

Mining Regulations
Advisory Committee

(MRAC)

Mining Occupational
Health Advisory Committee

(MOHAC)

Safety in Mines
Research Advisory Comittee 

(SIMRAC)

Operational Execution and Implementation

Legislation

Regulations

Guidelines

Standards

Health Policy

Health Information

Health Regulations

Research Input

Research needs

Research Programmes

Technology Transfer
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Members not present: Mr SF Stehring, Dr N Maku, Mr M Zondi, Mr J Henning, Mr V Maseko, Mr J Viljoen
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From Left Standing: Ms C Jones, Ms N Woods, Mr J Lithebe, Ms Z Tokwe, Mr S Mfeka, Ms J Matthews, Mr L Phoswa, Dr A Banyini, 
Mr T Ngubeni, Ms T Noosi, Mr S Mthembu, Mr V Tshifularo, Ms B Ngomano.
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Ceo

Mr N Singh
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Overview of Strategic Objectives

The Mine Health and Safety Council revised its strategic priorities for the period 2009 to 2012 by taking the following  
into account:

• Past performance of the Mine Health and Safety Council and progress made on the strategic objectives;
• A review of the relevance and efficacy of existing strategic objectives; 
• The mandate of the MHSC;
• A review of the MHSC’s internal strengths and weaknesses; and 
• Current and future opportunities and challenges facing occupational health and safety in the mining industry.  

A thre-year rolling strategic plan was approved by members of the MHSC and implemented during the period under review. 
To this end, the MHSC developed and successfully implemented the Balanced Scorecard approach to monitor performance 
against the strategic objectives. The graphical representation of the performance against the planned initiatives were tracked on 
a quarterly basis and using a colour coding system of (red = target not achieved, yellow = approaching target and green = target 
achieved) progress was reported to the Minister of Mineral Resources.

MHSC Balanced Scorecard

Description of each of the Balanced Scorecard Features

• Financial: Strategy for growth, sustainability, and risk viewed from the perspective of the stakeholder.
• Customer: Strategy for creating value and differentiation from the perspective of the customer.
• Internal Business Processes: Strategic priorities for various business processes that create customer and  
 stakeholder satisfaction.
• Learning and Growth: Priorities to create a climate that supports organisational change, innovation and growth. 

cHaPter 3: PerforMance oVerVIeW
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 1.Customer Perspective  2. Internal Business 

• Provide advice  to the Minister
• Influence the Health and Safety legislative environment 
• Promote a Health and Safety Culture
• Improve Tripartite Partnership and Cooperation
• Drive the implementation of the Summit  2013 
 actions within the mining industry
• Build Health and Safety capacity in the Sector
• Monitor the improvement of the lifestyle of mine workers

• Manage OHS research
• Maintain effective operation of the MHSC
• Support OHS Monitoring and Evaluation Initiatives 

 3. Learning and Growth  4. Financial Perspective

• Build Capacity in the MHSC Office  
• Build Capacity in the MHSC to ensure knowledge 
 of Councillors matches  the strategic objective 

• Manage OHS research
• Maintain effective Financial Management 
• Maintain a high level of risk management
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C1 - Promote Health and Saftey Culture in the 

Mining Industry

C2
Regular & Timeous 

Feedback

C3
Provide Advice & Reliable 

Information on OHS

C4
Influence Legislation

C5
Strengthen Tripartite 

Partnerships

IP1 Improve Efficiency

IP2 Embed Processes

IP3 Automate Processes

IP4 Review Business 
Processes & Procedures

IP5 Adopt & Share Best 
practice

IP6 Engage in Purposeful 
Research

IP7 Benchmark Against Best 
practice

IP8 Understand Current & 
Future OHS Needs

IP9 Build / Leverage Networks

IP10 Educate & Empower our 
Stakeholders

IP11 Understand Stakeholder 
Needs & Expectations 

LG1 Attract, Develop & 
Retain Appropriate Staff 

LG2 Embed 

Core Values

LG3 Build Technological 
Capability 

LG4 Build 
Accountability

F1 Improve 
Revenue Collection 

F2 Align Budget 
with Strategy

F3 Leverage 
Assets Optimally  

F4 Improve 
Cost Structure 

F5 - Manage Risk

Efficient Business Process Knowledge Leadership
Stakeholder & Customer 
Relationship Management

The table below summarises the MHSC’s strategic priorities for the year under review.  These objectives, measures and targets 
were also developed and are indicated on the performance tables that follow.

To improve the quarterly reporting using the balanced scorecard, the objectives were refined and mapped as follows:

Figure 1: Balance Scorecard for Mine Health and Safety Council



18 MHSC AnnuAl RepoRt   |  2009/2010

To link the quarterly reporting via the balanced scorecard to that of the strategic objectives the linkages are shown as follows:

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

Customer Perspective C1 C2* Reported 
under IP2 C3 C4 C5

provide advice to the Minister x

Influence the Health & Safety  
Legislative Environment

x

Promote a Health & Safety Culture x

Improve Tripartite Partnership 
& Cooperation 

x

Drive the Implimentation of the Summit 
2013 Actions Within the Mining Industy

x

Build Health & Safety Capacity  
in the Sector

x

Monitor the Improvement of the Lifestyle 
of Mine Workers

x

Internal Perspective iP1 iP2 iP3 iP4 iP5 iP6 iP7 iP8 iP11

Manage OHS Research x x x x

Maintain Effective Opperation Of the MHSC x x x x

Support OHS Monotoring & Evaluation 
Initiatives

x

Learning & Growth LG1 LG2 LG3 LG4

Build Capacity in the MHSC Office x x x x

Build Capacity in the MHSC to Ensure Knowledge of the  
Councilors Matches the MHSC Strategic Objective 

x

Financial F1 F2 F3 F4 F5

Effective Financial Management x x x x

Risk Management x
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Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

provide Advice   
to the Minister

No. of OHS 
advice reports

One report /
Quarter

4 The overall target of four reports for the year was 
achieved, however the reports were only submitted 
in the 3rd and 4th quarter. The reports covered the 
following topics:

• Silicosis roadshow

• Tuberculosis and treatment facilities, 

• Compensation system and challenges  
 for mine workers and 

• Work completed by MHSC on  
 methane explosions

1.  Strategic Objective: Customer Perspective

Recent management philosophy has shown an increasing realisation of the importance of customer focus and customer 
satisfaction in any business. These are leading indicators: if customers are not satisfied, they will eventually find other suppliers 
that will meet their needs. Poor performance from this perspective is thus a leading indicator of future decline, even though the 
current financial picture may look good.

In developing metrics for satisfaction, customers should be analysed in terms of kinds of customers and the kinds of processes 
for which we are providing a product or service to those customer groups.

The customer perspective included seven objectives. Detailed performance reports are given for each objective.  

1.1 Provide Advice to the Minister

During the 2009/10 financial year, four advice reports were submitted to the Minister. The advice reports were based on 
outcomes of research work completed, implementation of research outcomes and issues raised by stakeholders.

The topics covered in the reports were:

 • Tuberculosis (TB) facilities in the Welkom/ Lejweleputswa mining area in the Free State Province

  South Africa’s current national Tuberculosis Strategic Plan (2007-2011) states that the TB incidence rate in miners  
  has been increasing exponentially with HIV every year, and that the gold mining industry in particular probably has  
  the highest incidence rate of TB in the world. TB in gold mines has been linked to poor control of respirable  
  crystalline silica dust levels. The Presidential Mine Health and Safety Audit in 2008 showed that the milestone target  
  of having 95% of respirable crystalline silica readings below 0.10 mg/m3 was not being met, with six out of nine  
  provinces showing stagnation or regression in this regard.
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PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

  Since 2003, the MHSC has spent more than R7.6 million to address the problem of TB in the mining industry.  
  The topics focussed on early diagnosis, early non-symptomatic pick up, management and reporting, evaluating TB  
  programmes and prevention. 
 
  The TB projects are:

  1. Pulmonary Tuberculosis and obstructive airway disease in gold miners.   
  2. Pulmonary Tuberculosis in relation to lung function loss.
  3. Clinico-pathological study of pulmonary Tuberculosis.
  4. To establish the presence of Tuberculosis in the underground workplaces on the gold mines and by so doing  
   develop strategies to reduce the prevalence.
  5. To enhance clinical performance: Process-based performance review for the diagnosis of Pulmonary Tuberculosis. 
  6. The use of sputum screening as active case detection for Tuberculosis.
  7. Monitoring and evaluation of sustained clinical performance and Tuberculosis Management in the SA Mining Industry.     
  8. Preventive therapy against Tuberculosis for South African mineworkers.
  9. A Randomised Controlled study of the effectiveness of annual and 6-monthly screening with mass miniature  
   radiography (MMR) for the active case-finding of cardiopulmonary TB patients.
  10. Analysis of occupational lung disease identified and compensated in different mining sectors by comparison  
   of available data bases with autopsies conducted under the occupational diseases in the Mines and Works  
   Act (ODMWA).
  11. Development of sensitive tools for active case-finding for TB.
  12. Strategies for reducing the burden of TB infection and disease in South African gold miners:  the role of  
   preventive therapy. 
  13. Prevalence of latent TB infection among South African gold miners.
  14. Sustained Technology Transfer of Guidelines and Materials for X-ray Reading Skills to Health Practitioners in the  
   Mining Industry. 

  A concern was raised on the challenges of accessing TB treatment facilities in the Welkom Lejweleputswa mining area.  
  With a total workforce of approximately 46 000 mine employees and taking into account the relationship between  
  crystalline silica exposure and TB, it is apt to consider the implication of the lack of treatment facilities and its impact  
  on the health of mine workers in this area.

  While the Free State Department of Health (FSDoH) is able to partner with larger mining companies in the treatment  
  and management of  TB and HIV/AIDS through the provision of mobile treatment facilities, this is not the case for small  
  to medium mines and there is a lack of information to gauge the extent of the problem.

  The Department of Health (DoH) has also identified that the majority of Multi Drug Resistant cases originate from  
  the mines. Even though the DoH is building a new hospital to address the MDR problem in the area, this will not  
  adequately deal with the existing backlog. The implications are that there is a greater risk of cross infection which will  
  adversely impact on the magnitude of the problem.

  The recommendation was that both the Ministers of Health and Mineral Resources should meet to initiate discussions  
  on the development of a strategy for the provision of adequate TB treatment facilities in the mining regions.
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 • Increase in methane related accidents and MHSC research on methane

  The recent safety statistics have shown an increase in injuries and fatalities where methane has been the primary cause  
  of the accident.  In 2009,  four mine employees were killed and 26 were injured. In comparison to 2008, this is a significant  
  increase in both fatalities and injuries since there were zero fatalities and seven injuries for 2008.

  The MHSC has completed 30 research projects that focussed on reducing the risks posed by methane gas in South  
  African mines. The projects focussed on early detection as well as mitigating or preventative strategies. From this  
  research, it was found that there are three main causes that lead to flammable gas incidents and fatalities. These  
  are poor ventilation, inadequate or lack of testing for flammable gas, and use of contraband items (use of tobacco  
  and an open flame) and illegal tampering with cap-lamps.  Another earlier research project concluded that gold mines  
  have more ignition related accidents, whereas the platinum mines have face outbursts during drilling, usually  
  without ignition.

  Given the vast amount of research effort into the detection of methane gas and the mitigation of the risks posed  
  by this gas, one of the major conclusion common throughout all the research projects was that adequate ventilation,  
  proper monitoring and testing and adherence to approved codes of practice is essential.

  The Minister was advised to note that with the amount of work the MHSC has conducted on explosions, the industry  
  is required to implement the finding to ensure the risks of methane gas explosions are better mitigated.

 • Compensation legislation for the mining sector

  Since 1999, government has been discussing overhauling the worker’s compensation system.  This overhaul relates to  
  the merger of Compensation of Occupational Injuries and Disease Act (COIDA) administered by the Department of  
  Health and Occupational Disease in Mines and Works Act (ODMWA). 

  Concerns over the possible merger relates to the differences in risk evaluation, risk contribution and compensation.  
  The other issue relates to the fear of doing away with no fault system, which could open the doors to litigation  
  with consequences (negative or positive depending on the position). The positive views for a merger relate to  
  addressing the structural and compensation issues of ODMWA. 

  The advice report to the Minister outlined the similarities and differences between COIDA and ODMWA and the  
  challenges these posed for mine workers. The report also highlighted the need to establish a high level inter- 
  departmental committee to develop a strategy to simplify the implementation of the worker’s compensation legislation.  
  The relevant government departments are Department of Health (administers ODMWA), Department of Labour  
  (administers COIDA) and the Department of Mineral Resources.

 • Feedback on the Silicosis roadshow

  MHSC is a partner in the World Health Organisation (WHO) and International Labour Organisation (ILO) initiative  
  for the global elimination of  silicosis. Since its establishment in 1994, research have been undertaken in dust  
  measurement and control, but silica exposure, with related silicosis and tuberculosis, remains a challenge for the mining  
  industry.  From the statistics received from the Department of Mineral Resources, the sector did not meet the targets  
  for 2008. If the trends are not reversed, the targets for 2013 will not be achieved.
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  Currently MHSC has an extensive programme of research that aims to address the issue of Silicosis in the mining  
  industry. The research programme has three major thrust areas as outlined below.
 
  Part A: Dust Measurements and Reporting
  Previous SIMRAC research and the lack of progress in eliminating silicosis highlighted the problem of measurement,  
  analysis and reporting of respirable dust exposures. SIMRAC has prioritised dust measurement and reporting as an  
  area for research in the Silicosis Control Programme. 
  
  Part B: Environmental Engineering/ Dust Control
  The most important intervention for any silicosis control programme is the elimination or reduction of dust at source  
  and the prevention of exposure. SIMRAC has targeted feasible or cost-effective environmental control engineering and  
  dust control technology as a research priority area for the Silicosis Control Programme. 

  Part C: Human Resources Training and Management
  In the 1960s the South African mining industry held a leading position in research on dust exposure and control  
  and also in education and training on dust. This position needs to be re-established through the use of current  
  educational methods and technology, which have developed in the intervening years, to raise awareness about dust  
  exposure and health effects. SIMRAC has targeted the area of human resources training/ technology transfer as one  
  of the priority areas for the Silicosis Control Programme. Close collaboration is required with the dust measurement  
  and dust control projects on silicosis elimination. 

  The silicosis research programme commenced in 2005 with the popularisation strategy completed in 2005 but was  
  however not fully implemented. As part of the popularisation strategy a silicosis comic, as one of the vehicles to  
  communicate the programme was approved by SIMRAC. However taking into account the high levels of illiteracy, it  
  was determined that alternative methods should be sought to communicate this message to the workforce. Three  
  provinces with the highest labour force where the problem of silicosis is the most prevalent were ear-marked, these  
  being Gauteng/North West, Mpumalanga and Free State.  A roadshow was deemed to be the most suitable method of  
  promoting understanding and awareness of the dangers and prevention of Silicosis to mining employees. The initial  
  target was set at reaching 150 000 mining employees and took place from the 4th to the 27th of November 2009. The  
  first show was held at AngloGold Ashanti’s Moab Khotsong gold mine. 

  The manner in which the show was undertaken (the concept of using the truck and the industrial theatre) was very  
  successful in ensuring that the message of “Prevention, Management and ultimately the Eradication of Silicosis” was  
  delivered. The roadshow was interactive in that it allowed for participation with members of the audience. An  
  approximate number of 14 000 mine workers attended the roadshow at the following sites:

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...
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Mining Region Name of Mine

Gauteng/NorthWest:

Kloof Gold Mine

Driefontien  Gold Mine

Kopanang Gold Mine

Moab Kothsong Gold Mine

Great Noligwa Gold Mine

Tau Lekoa Gold Mine

Mponeng Gold Mine

Frees State

Masimong Gold Mine

Bambanani Gold Mine

Merrispruit Gold Mine

Beatrix Gold Mine 

Harmony Gold Mine – Nyala Hostel

Mpumalanga

Khutala Colliery

Tavistock Colliery

Greenside Colliery

Silicosis Road Show - Opening Day, 4 November 2009
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Silicosis Road Show - Tavistock Colliery, 26 November 2009

Silicosis Road Show - Greenside Colliery, 27 November 2009

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...
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1.2 Influence the Health  and Safety Legislative Environment

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Influence the Health  
and Safety Legislative 
Environment 

Legislative review 
completed

June 2009 Y A total of three regulations were completed 
and submitted to DMR for promulgation. The  
regulations submitted include:

• ‘falls of ground’ regulations
• Off-shore installations regulations and
• Chapter 17 regulations: Survey, mapping 
 and mine plans

One of the MHSC’s key mandate is to review occupational health and safety legislation. Since1996, approximately 66 submissions 
on amendments to the MHSA and regulations dealing with various aspects of health and safety have been submitted to the DMR. 
During the 2009/10 financial year, three regulations were submitted against a target of 6. The regulations were:

• Regulation 14.1(7): Falls of ground 

 MRAC were requested by the MHSC to include the word “temporary” in the competency definition of the Falls of  
 Ground Regulation.  The reason for this request was that in relation to the regulation a competent person means a person  
 who has been assessed and found competent to install, maintain and remove any temporary support.  The terms of removal  
 had to be reconsidered, and it was requested that this would only be applicable to the temporary support.

Silicosis Road Show - Nyala Shaft Session



26 MHSC AnnuAl RepoRt   |  2009/2010

 MRAC supported the proposed amendment to Regulation 14.1(7) of the Falls of Ground in order to change the reference  
 to removal of support to a reference to the removal of temporary support.

• Offshore Installations regulations and guideline
 
 The regulations and guideline for the Code of Practice were developed for offshore installations.
 
• Chapter 17 regulations, mine mapping and mine plans   Regulation 17(2)(c): 
 
 MHSC had agreed that the one hour time limit for a competent person to reach the mine in the case of an emergency is  
 unnecessarily prescriptive and arbitrary.  The said regulation was therefore amended, taking into account the mine’s  
 mandatory Code of Practice for “Emergency Preparedness and Response.

 Regulation 17(2)(c) was amended to read as follows:

 In the case of an underground mine, one competent person appointed under regulation 17(2)(a) must be able to reach  
 the mine in the case of those emergencies and within such time(s), as determined in terms of the mine’s risk assessment.   
 Such emergencies and time(s) must be included in the mine’s mandatory Code of Practice for Emergency Care Preparedness  
 and Response.

1.3 Promotion of Health and Safety Culture

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Promotion of Health and 
Safety Culture

Improved OHS 
Culture 

Annually 
(review)

In progress T h e  d eve l o p m e n t  o f  t h e  c u l t u re 
transformation framework is progressing 
well. The project is due for completion by the 
second quarter of the next financial year.

Between April 2009 and March 2010, a 
total of 58 safety awards were presented to  
the mines.

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

The objective was addressed through two initiatives:

• Develop an OHS Culture Framework
 
 The MHSC is mandated to promote a culture of health and safety in the mining sector. To this end, at a summit in  
 September 2008, the stakeholders identified a need to develop a culture transformation framework. The programme for  
 the culture transformation framework included the following actions:
 • Develop framework
 • Popularise framework
 • Do gap analysis (companies) 
 • Report (companies) 
 • Assess the culture transformation  
 



27MHSC AnnuAl RepoRt   |  2009/2010

 The resulting Changing Minds, Changing Mines project, builds on a survey that indicated that OHS culture in the industry was  
 significantly more negative than international comparisons.  

 The aim of the Changing Minds, Changing Mines project is to develop a health and safety culture transformation framework  
 that will allow the South African mining industry to significantly improve its health and safety culture. In order to achieve  
 this aim, the project will achieve the following objectives:
 • identify the key elements of a high performing health and safety culture, including, but not limited to, values and the  
  associated behaviours;
 • define those factors that promote or inhibit achievement in health and safety, identify and assess models that provide  
  a suitable framework for the improvement of health and safety culture,
 • develop an appropriate framework for the South African mining sector,
 • develop an implementation plan for the framework,
 • develop indicators and monitoring tools to measure progress on an ongoing basis, and 
 • assess the level of health and safety culture within the mining industry with a comparison across various  
  commodity sectors.

 The development of the framework was initiated in the 2009/10 financial year and will be complete by August 2010.  All  
 activities for the development of the framework were completed by February 2010 and the final report is being finalised.  
 Thereafter the framework will be popularised and progress monitored regularly.

 The deliverables of the project are:
 • A health and safety culture transformation framework that will guide practical action on minesites; 
 • National policy guidelines on enforcement that support achievement of high performance OHS culture;
 • Best practice guideline on how to identify the root causes of accidents and how to act on these causes;
 • Best practice guideline on the implementation of the right to refuse dangerous work;
 • Best practice guideline on the role of Health and Safety Representatives and how this role can be supported  
  and fulfilled;
 • How to address health and safety as a component of the bonus system, both directly and how to address  
  any negative consequences.

• OHS Award scheme implemented  (incentives in promoting OHS culture within industry)

 The MHSC initiated the Safety Awards Programme in November 1999 and includes awards in various categories. For the  
 period from April 2009 to March 2010, 58 awards were conferred to the mines.  A total of 29 mines received the Millionaire  
 Award and the other 29 the thousand fatality free shifts awards. The details are given on the tables below.
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 Millionaire award winners

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

Mine Award

SA Division Metallurgy Million (11)

Modikwa Platinum Million (6)

Tumela Platinum Mine Million (4)

Tumela Platinum Mine Million (3)

Dishaba Platinum Mine Million (3)

Harmony Freegold Surface Operations Million (3)

Impala Platinum 2 Shaft Million (2)

Tumela Platinum Mine Million (2)

Great Noligwa Million (2)

Harmony Evander 8 Shaft Million (2)

Impala 6 Shaft Million (2)

Thembelani Platinum Mine Million (2)

Northam Platinum Million (2)

Harmony 2 Shaft Million (1)

Blyvooruitzicht Gold Mine Million (1)

Bafokeng Rasimone Million (1)

Northam Platinum Mine Million (1)

Blue Ridge Platinum Mine Million (1)

Bokoni Platinum Mine Million (1)

Grootegeluk Colliery Million (1)

Sigma Colliery Million (1)

Harmony Joel Mine Million (1)

Impala 12 Shaft Million (1)

Kopanang Gold Mine Million (1)

Moab Khotsong Million (1)

Khuseleka Platinum Mine Million (1)

Union Platinum Mine JV Million (1)

Harmony Tsepong Mine Million (1)

Impala 11 Shaft Million (1)
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Mine Award

Idwala Limestone Thousand (11)

Vergenoeg Mining Company Thousand (11)

Forzando North Colliery Thousand (10)

Tselentis Colliery Thousand (10)

Assmang Iron Ore Mine Thousand (7)

Sedibeng Diamonds Thousand (7)

Thabazimbi Iron Ore Thousand (6)

Xstrata Waterval Chrome Mine Thousand (5)

Helena Mine Thousand (5)

Helam Diamonds Thousand (5)

New Denmark Colliery Thousand (4)

Eastside Colliery Thousand (4)

Xstrata Horizon Chrome Thousand (4)

Spitzkop Colliery Thousand (4)

Forzando South Colliery Thousand (4)

Halfgewonnen Colliery Thousand (3)

Mototolo Platinum Borwa Shaft Thousand (3)

Isibonelo Colliery Thousand (3)

Mototolo Platinum Lebowa Shaft Thousand (3)

Lafarge Tygeberg Quarry Thousand (2)

Kleinkopje Colliery Thousand (2)

Lafarge Peak Quarry Thousand (2)

Lafarge Saldanha Quarry Thousand (2)

Lafarge Witfontein Quarry Thousand (2)

Petra Diamonds Kimberly JV Thousand (1)

Greenside Colliery Thousand (1)

Vuna Colliery Thousand (1)

PPC Lime Thousand (1)

Xstrata Kroondal Chrome Mine Thousand (1)

Thousand fatality free shift award winners
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PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Improve Tripartite 
Partnership and 
Cooperation

No. of guidelines 
developed

Improved compliance

1/year 0 The development of the following guidelines is still 
underway and is due for finalisation by August 2010:

• national policy guideline on enforcement
• guideline to identify root causes of accidents 
• guideline on the implementation of the  
 right to refuse dangerous work

The Objective was addressed through the following inititives:

• Arrange facilitated stakeholder dialogues in troubled regions
 
 In an effort to ensure MHSC stays in touch with the health and safety issues presenting a challenge to the mining industry  
 stakeholders, MHSC meetings are held in the various mining regions. During the 2009/10 financial year, MHSC meetings  
 were held in the following areas:
 
 Mpumalanga - Witbank
 North West - Carletonville
 Free State - Welkom
 Gauteng - Johannesburg 

 This effort allows stakeholders in the regions to engage with MHSC at a strategic level where solutions can be developed.

• Number of guidelines developed 
 
 The development of the following guidelines was incorporated into the development of the culture framework:
 • Enforcement guideline
 • Accident investigation guideline
 • Manual on the right to refuse dangerous work
 • Best practice guideline on incentive schemes

 The guidelines will be completed by August 2010 followed by distribution to industry.
 A compliance campaign will take place once the guidelines have been developed and approved by MHSC.

1.4 Improve Tripartite Partnership and Cooperation
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1.5 Drive the implementation of the Summit  2013 actions within the mining industry
 

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Drive the 
implementation of 
the Summit  2013 
actions within the 
mining industry

Centre of Excellence 
established

No. of technologies 
transferred to 
industry

March 2010

1/year

In 
progress

The process for the establishment of the Centre 
of Excellence has been initiated and is planned 
for completion by August 2010.

The following research projects were completed 
in the year and transferred to the mines :

• Hazard identification Risk Assessment 
• Training material to reduce Noise  
 Induced hearing Loss

Further to this the MHSC exhibited at the 
Mining Indaba 2010, where research material 
was distributed.

The following inititives supported this objective:

• Do research and adopt best practices and research findings

 The priorities of the MHSC’s OHS research included the following:

 In June 2009, a project focussed on a Hazard Identification Risk Assessment (HIRA) for trackless system was completed.  
 The outcomes of this project provide the user with a template to evaluate the risks associated with trackless mobile  
 equipment.  When presented to the SIMRAC members, it was perceived that the research outcomes would prove to be  
 invaluable to reduce the number of injuries, incidents and fatalities associated with trackless mobile equipment. 

• Establish a Centre of Excellence 
 
 Currently, the MHSC’s research programme is based on an annual review of research needs taking into account the  
 safety performance statistics, the stakeholder inputs, developments world-wide and work that has already been completed.  
 The programme tends to lack a clear coordination as all the research is outsourced to various organisations nationally.  At  
 a summit is 2008, tripartite stakeholders proposed the establishment of a centre of excellence.

 the key objectives for the CoE as proposed by the tripartite stakeholders are:
 • to conduct research and facilitate implementation of research outcomes in the following areas:
  - Rock Engineering 
  - Human factors, including appropriate incentive systems 
  - Mining 
  - Engineering
  - Occupational Health / Hygiene
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  - Provide technical support services to the MHSI, e.g. testing of ropes.
  - Provide a monitoring oversight role in occupational hygiene.
  - Provide health and safety related training at all levels.
  - Maintain an electronic library system of mine health and safety information
 
The concept paper for the centre is being finalised and it is envisaged that the centre will be established by March 2011. 
 
1.6 Build Health and Safety Capacity in the Sector 

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

The MHSC developed a handbook on appropriate nutritional requirements for mine workers. The initial study critically  
reviewed latest information on the effect of nutrition on occupational health and safety of mine workers, reviewed regulations 
on nutrition of employees residing in the mines and finally conducted a pilot study to evaluate nutritional content of food 
provided, knowledge, attitudes, experiences and perception with respect to health and nutrition. The handbook was produced 
during the period under review and will be distributed to the sector. Further to this, there was clear recommendations to 
develop a handbook on housing however upon review, the DMR activities in developing housing regulations have superseded 
the research findings and as a result the housing booklet was not produced. 

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Monitor the improvement of 
the lifestyle of mine workers

Monitoring reports Annually Partially achieved The nutritional handbook 
was reprinted.

This objective is being implemented in partnership with the MQA.  The MHSC has identified the priority skills requirements and 
the MQA has developed the learning programmes. Stakeholders raised some concerns on the appropriateness of the training 
being offered to OHS representatives and Shop Stewards.  A total of 2160 representatives were trained.

The development of a strategy to attract, train and retain OHS professionals (rock engineers, safety professionals, occupational 
hygienists, occupational medical practitioners) has been initiated and will be completed by end September 2010.

1.7 Monitor the improvement of the lifestyle of Mine Workers

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Build Health and 
Safety Capacity in the 
sector 

(some of the activities 
will also link to the 
Centre of Excellence)

No. of OHS reps 
trained 

Increased skills 
retention

OHS industry 
strategies monitoring 
reports

8000/ year 2160 This objective is implemented in partnership with 
MQA. Training was initiated and then interrupted 
to assess training material. Of the 2160 OHS Reps 
trained 1760 were found competent.
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Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Manage  OHS 
research

Approved   
oHS research  
programmes for   
implementation

Quarterly Achieved •   The research programme for 2009/2010   
 was approved by SIMRAC and MHSC.
•   Previous research done (both locally and  
 internationally) was considered during the   
 needs analysis process.
•   Through the use of Technical Experts and   
 the regular meeting of SIMRAC, the   
 research programme was successfully and  
 efficiently managed.

objectives,  measures, targets, are repeated and the actual performances and related commentary are provided against each of 
the sections below.  The key focus areas under this objective were to:
 
 • Manage  OHS research
 • Ensure Effective operations of MHSC
 • Support OHS monitoring and Evaluation 

2.1 Managing OHS Research

2. Strategic Objective: Internal Business Process

The aim of the internal business processes perspective is to focus on strategic priorities for various business processes that 
create customer and stakeholder satisfaction.  As documented in the approved Strategic Plan for 2009/2010 – 2011/2012, the 

Figure 2:   Identification of Research Needs

The manner in which the OHS research was determined and managed was fundamentally changed during the 2009/2010 
reporting period. A significant change was the replacement of tripartite technical advisory committees by the use of technical 
experts to provide guidance and direction to the research providers. Further to this the identification of research focus areas 
was improved by in-depth analysis of the mining sector statistics on OHS performance.  As shown below, in figure 2, during the 
period under review, the needs analysis for 2009/10 as well as 2010/2011 were completed and approved. 

Measure Owner: CROO 

Performance Analysis 
Issues 

• 2009/2010 needs analysis was completed 
• Research needs analysis for 2010/2011 was approved 

by SIMRAC and MHSC 

Implications 

• Prolong research outcomes and negative impact on 
health and safety 

• Negative image on Council on improvement of OHS 

Action Plan (s) 

• Pre-proposals were gazetted and reviewed. 
• Awaiting SIMRAC approval at meeting of 14th of April 

2010. 

Accountability 

• Chief Research and Operations Officer 

Strategic Initiatives 

On-Time On-
Budget 

Initiative Name 

OHS needs analysis  

	  Annual	  OHS	  needs	  analysis	  report	  approved	  

IP8	  –Understanding	  of	  Current	  
and	  Future	  OHS	  needs	  

M
1
8
-‐
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2.1.1 Research programme and highlights for 2009/2010

Clear research themes and programmes were identified and approved for commencement in the 2009/2010 financial year 
as shown below in Figure 3. Although the implementation of a new research process was successful there were still a few 
administrative challenges being experienced which impacted on the late start of projects.  

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

Some of the highlights of the research programme are detailed below:

 Rockfall Elimination Programme (SIM060601) projects are progressing well. The research programme has three   
 projects that focus on monitoring systems (Track A), computer simulation software (Track B) and legislative issues  
 (Track C). Both Tracks A and B have completed the second year of a three year study respectively. Year 1 of the 2 year  
 project for Track C has been completed which assessed the regulatory framework regarding codes of practice relating to  
 the amelioration of rockfalls in the mining industry.

 On completion and once adopted the outcomes of the research programme will contribute towards  
 achieving the milestone of “Zero rate of fatalities and injuries”.

 SIM 02 06 05 Phase 2: Investigation into surface activity of airborne particles in the gold, platinum  
 and coal mining environment phase 2.
 
 This research aims to analyse the physicochemical properties of bulk and respirable dust samples from various occupational  
 working environments from gold, diamond, platinum and coal mines and report on the cellular toxicity and geno-toxicity  
 of the dust fractions. The objective is to establish more relevant dose response relationship of exposure in producing  
 their pathological effects. This will assist in controlling airborne crystalline silica dust by the South African mining industry  

M16-‐	  Number	  of	  projects	  addressing	  current	  	  
mining	  industry	  needs	  

IP6	  –Engage	  in	  Purposeful	  
research	   Performance Analysis 

Issues 

• Safety projects: Rockfall Track B year 3 proposal 
completely redone, Rockfall Track C delayed due to 
lack of input from stakeholders 

• Health projects : projects progressing well. 

Implications 

• Under expenditure on research budget. 

Action Plan (s) 

• 2010/11 pre-proposal published.  
• Technical experts have been sourced to review pre-

proposals and come continuation projects.  

Accountability 

• Chief Research and Operations Officer 

Strategic Initiatives 

On-Time On-
Budget 

Initiative Name 

Annual approved OHS research 
programme 

Measure Owner: Programme Managers 

Figure 3:   Approved Programmes of Research per Thrust area
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 with regards to physicochemical properties of bulk samples and respirable dust samples. Dust from sampled mines was  
 collected, fractured and separated into fractions for analysis of chemical properties. Medical records were obtained and  
 analysed for variables like occupational histories and occupational hygiene information. 
 
 On completion the results will be communicated to the industry via appropriately aimed technology  
 transfer mediums towards the milestone of eliminating silicosis.  

 SIM 03 06 03 Track B: Silicosis control program: Environmental engineering and dust control Phase 2: yr 4.
 
 The aim of this project was to assess and determine efficiency of filtration systems for respirable dust of the current filter  
 media used for dust control and the different control technologies (existing and new). In addition the piloting and evaluation  
 of potentially  cost effective new and existing dust control methods are also being finalised with the intention of developing  
 best practice manuals for the South African Mining Industry. Included in the research outcomes will be recommendations  
 on the design component for new mines (commodity-specific). The pilot and evaluation of potentially cost effective new  
 and existing dust control methods for underground gold mine has been completed. Development of area monitoring  
 sampling protocols towards the finalisation of best practice manuals have also been completed.

 An appropriate and most effective manner to transfer the research outcomes is being investigated to  
 ensure that the research outcomes can contribute towards the milestone of eliminating silicosis. 

 SIM 09 09 01: Printing of nutrition handbook.
 
 SIM 09 09 01 emanates from a previously funded project (SIM 02 09 01 A ‘Nutrition and occupational health and safety  
 in the South African mining industry). The study critically reviewed latest information on the effect of nutrition on OHS of  
 mineworkers, reviewed regulations on nutrition of employees residing in the mines.  A pilot study to evaluate nutritional  
 content of food provided, knowledge, attitudes, experiences and perception with respect to health and nutrition was  
 also conducted. Further to this, the manner in which food was prepared, the lack of kitchen staff training, the lack of fresh  
 food or variety, the fact that vegetables and fruit finished before all employees could receive them and the lack of hostel  
 food committees was identified as an area for concern. The study found that though nutrition may not directly influence  
 occupational health and safety, good nutrition has long-term effect on well being which in turn has positive effect on  
 worker’s performance. The project outcomes were developed in a booklet as technology transfer for use by practitioners  
 involved with provision of nutrition including mine management. 

 The development of the booklet is deemed to be an invaluable tool to assist in providing employees with  
 the correct nutritional meals whilst employed within the mining sector. 
 
 SIM 09 09 04: COMRO documentation.
 
 The project undertook to convert all the previous research work that was done via the Chamber of Mines Research  
 Organisation (which was only in hardcopy format) into electronic format for storage on the MHSC website. The two  
 reasons for this was that the previous work was invaluable and was currently still viable for implementation, however this  
 was not easily and readily available to stakeholders. Further to this, when determining and finalising the research needs  
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 it is a pre-requisite that previous research work be considered to ensure that there is no duplication of activities and  
 funding. The electronic copies will allow for easier cross referencing and thus allow for the establishment of more focussed  
 and precise research programmes of work.

 The project has been completed however the reports are yet to be loaded onto the MHSC website.

 During the period under review the MHSC undertook, as part of the identification of the research needs, a benchmarking  
 survey to assess the relevance of its research work. It was determined that of the eight research thrust areas identified,   
 five of the MHSC funded research areas were on par with (if not leading) some of the international practices as depicted in  
 Figure 4 below. Opportunities and areas for improvement were identified and are planned to be areas of focus during the next  
 reporting period.

Figure 4:   Comparing MHSC research programmes to international standards

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

15	  

number	  of	  best	  pracGces	  idenGfied,	  adopted	  
	  and	  shared.	  

Performance Analysis 
Issues 

• Done through research needs analysis process. 
• Scanned HSE, NIOSH, Australian relevant best 

practice documentation during needs analysis 
process.  

Implications 

• Research needs unclear and opportunity to familiarise 
local and international mining industry on MHSC 
activities will be lost 

Action Plan (s) 

• Final document for submission to MHSC  in April 2010 

Accountability 

• Chief Research and Operations Officer 

Strategic Initiatives 

On-Time On-
Budget 

Initiative Name 

Research Needs Analysis 

IP5	  –Adopt	  and	  Share	  best	  
pracGce	  

M
1
5
-‐

Measure Owner: Programme Managers 

yes	  

no	  
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In order to achieve this objective, the MHSC undertook four key focus areas to monitor performance.  There were: 

	 Improve	 Efficiency:	 the need to ensure that MHSC and its advisory committee members receive the documentation 
 expeditiously is of paramount importance to ensure that the committees and the MHSC can function efficiently. The  
 compliance requirements for the year were achieved through submissions of documentation as per the prescribed  
 time frames, as shown in Figure 5 below, the minimum number of days that documents needed to be circulated is five  
 working days prior to a meeting. This was primarily achieved for the year under review.

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Maintain effective 
operations of 
MHSC

•   Approved   
 strategy
•   Approved   
 business plan

Annually Achieved •   The three-year rolling strategic plan  
 was approved by MHSC.
•   During the period under review, the  
 MHSC  implemented the Balanced  
 Scorecard to monitor and track  
 implementation.
•   The compliance requirements for the  
 year were achieved through  
 submissions of documentation as per  
 the prescribed time frames. 

Figure 5:   Adherence to time frames for document circulation

2.2 Ensure Effective operations of MHSC

	 Embed	Processes: During the period under review the processes relating to Research Management, Committee  
 Administration and Finance processes were reviewed. Figure 5 above shows the monitoring of the performance against  
 this task.  The processes relating to IT were in draft form and in the process of being finalised. 
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12	  

-‐	  %	  adherence	  to	  processes	  

Measure Owner: CROO/CFO 
Performance Analysis 

Issues 

• Research Management and Committee Administration 
Processes were completed. 

• Finance processes being finalised. 
• IT Processes being drafted . 

Implications 

• .Delays in improving efficiency. 

Action Plan (s) 

• Process maps to be approved. 
• Increase focus on using project management 

modules. 
• Develop an action plan to prioritise review of IT 

Processes 

Accountability 

• Chief Research and Operations Officer 
• Chief Financial Officer 

Strategic Initiatives 

On-Time On-
Budget 

Initiative Name 

Management Information System 

IP2	  –Embed	  processes	  

M
1
2

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

	 Automate	Processes: The majority of the processes related to research and the management of the research outcomes were  
 completed. This was primarily due to the MHSC adopting the Management Information System that was developed through  
 the Department of Mineral Resources.  Further to this there is also automated reporting of servers via the backup system. 

	 Review	 Business	 Processes	 &	 Procedures: Although there is further work required to streamlining research and finance  
 processes, the MHSC made significant strides by reviewing the core functionality areas and related processes. Human  
 Resources, Research management and some Finance procedures were reviewed, updated and approved during the period  
 under review. The remaining Finance and IT policies and procedures were being reviewed and are in draft form awaiting  
 finalisation and approval at the end of the reporting period. 

2.3 Support OHS Monitoring and Evaluation 

In support of the initiatives to support and monitor OHS in the sector, the MHSC adopted the Management Information 
System that was developed by the Department of Mineral Resources. The system is in an advanced state of being rolled out and 
implemented within the MHSC.

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Support OHS 
Monitoring and 
Evaluation

Quality  
Monitoring System

Annually
Quarterly

Achieved The system is in an advanced state  
of being rolled out and implemented.

Figure 6:  Adherence to approved processes

Provided below in Figure 7, is the image of the opening page of the South African Mine Safety and Health Administration 
(SAMSHA) system that has been developed. The MHSC has incorporated this system into its business plan and processes. The 
system is in early stages of roll-out and with increased usage, the efficiency and dependency on the system is expected to grow.
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Figure 7:  Opening page of SAMSHA

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

Internal MHSC 
Capacity Building

Strategic job 
readiness

Annually Partial achieved Job profiles were completed in the past year. This 
forms the basis for the competence framework.
No training was undertaken.

Build Capacity in 
MHSC to ensure 
knowledge of 
Councillors matches 
the MHSC strategic 
objectives 

Strategic 
alignment

Annually Achieved Members of MHSC and the committees attended 
a corporate governance  course.

3. Strategic Objective: Learning and Growth

This perspective focuses on the organisation’s ability to meet its objectives through appropriate job placements. Other 
parameters monitored throughout the year related to learning and growth are summarised in the table below as well as 
represented graphically in Figure 8.
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PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

4. Strategic Objective: Financial Perspective

The objectives aims to develop a strategy that will ensure financial sustainability of the organisation whilst minimising the risk 
to the stakeholders. 

To this end the MHSC developed the following key activities for which performance was evaluated and reported:
 • Develop an approved budget in line with priorities.
 • Implementation of Financial Management Systems  and Controls to ensure that reports are prepared in line with PFMA.
 • Collection of levies for revenue.
 • Develop and implement Risks Management Register to reduce risks and monitor measures implemented.

Figure 8:  Learning and growth objectives, targets and performance

Learning & Growth 

# QUARTER OBJECTIVE MEASURE TARGET PERFROMANCE 

L1 Q1 Q2 Attract, Develop & 
Retain Appropriate 
Staff 

M19 No of vacancies  2 • Currently there are  five (5)  vacancies  
• Communications  Manager (New position) 
• Procurement Officer  
• IT specialist  
• Creditor’s Controller 
• Safety Research Programme Manager 

• The recruitment process is in progress 

Q3 Q4 
M20 Turnover Rate  10 % The turnover percentage has increased due to the 

fact that two employees resigned in February 
2010 

M21 % of payroll spend on training and 
development  

0% No training took place on in February 2010 

L2 Q1 Q2 Embed Core Values M22 Employee opinion survey ratings  ¾ An organisational climate survey was conducted . 
The overall organisational  performance was 
satisfactory. 

M23 Awareness session conducted (Y/N) Y - The sessions are held on an ongoing basis, at 
   least twice a quarter 
- Policy  awareness sessions are being 
   conducted on a monthly basis.  
-  All staff were trained on the balanced 
    scorecard. 

Q4 

L3 Q1 Q2 Build Technological 
Capability 

M24 % implementation of integrated IT & 
knowledge management infrastructure 

80% - The current payroll has been upgraded from 
   Classic to Premier for improved payroll 
   management and  reporting 
-  HR information uploaded on SAMSHA must be 
    verified for accuracy by 30 March 2010 Q3 Q4 

L4 Q1 Q2 Build Accountability  M25 % employees with performance 
agreements  

95% Target met. Finance and IT Manager’s 
performance agreements are outstanding. 

Q3 Q4 

=	  On	  Target	   =	  Approaching	  target	   =	  Off	  target	  
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4.1 Effective Financial Management

4.1.1 Improve Revenue Collection

For the period under review, significant effort was placed on collection of current and outstanding debt that was owed to the 
MHSC as shown below in Figure 9. Efforts from detailed interactions between the MHSC and the respective mines as well as 
interventions via the Chamber of Mines resulted in approximately 65% of the total debt being collected. Some debts in excess 
of 120 days have been handed over to the MHSC legal consultants.

Objectives Measures Target Actual Comments

effective 
Financial 
Management

Unqualified audit 
report

Annually Achieved • For the 2008/2009, the MHSC is proud to  
 state that the report received from the  
 Auditor-General was unqualified.
• The MHSC budget was approved together  
 with the Strategic plan by MHSC during the 
 financial year.
• Significant challenges were faced in the  
 year in terms  of capacity constraints  
 however improvements were noted due to   
 the implementation of systems and controls. 
• The levy collection was significantly improved  
 due to undertaking more 1:1 interactions with  
 senior mine personnel. For the year under  
 review, levy collection was 65%.

Risk 
Management

An approved risk  
management plan

Risk Management

Annual

Quarterly

Achieved •   A risk management plan was developed,  
 approved and implemented by MHSC for the  
 period under review.The risk management  
 register for the period 2009/2010 was  
 reviewed. 

Figure 9:  Percentage of revenue collected
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Even though capacity constraints due to staff turnover and absenteeism impacted significantly on the ability towards attaining 
the target, the overall results was were exemplary. 

4.1.2 Aligning Budget with Strategy

The main activities relating to the MHSC budget is towards research efforts to improve OHS in the sector. Further to this, 
the promotion of OHS is also one of the major objectives as set out in the mandate of MHSC. For the period under review, 
the research expenditure was under spent. The reasons for the under-expenditure are twofold. Firstly, the nature in which 
research management in the MHSC is structured results in the annual research budget never being fully spent in the financial 
year in which it is committed. This is due to the fact that project approval and the associated payments often span quarters as 
well as financial year-ends and therefore results in under-expenditure. Secondly penalties are imposed on research providers 
due to non-compliance with administrative requirements or lack of adequate progress on projects, this results in payments 
being deferred to a later date thus also impacting on under expenditure. Figure 10 below shows the alignment of budget to the 
strategy for the period 2009/2010.

PerforMance oVerVIeW continued...

Figure 10:  Approved Budget alignment with MHSC strategy
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4.1.3 Improving Cost Structure

In order to ensure compliance with managing the MHSC efficiently and reducing operating expenses (OPEX), the MHSC set as 
its target for the 2009/2010 period of review that the operating expenses should be less than 20% of the approved budget. For 
the period under review, the final percentage was 5% as shown in Figure 11 below.
  

Figure 11:   Ratio of OPEX to Budget

Ratio of Expenses against budget
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The Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), as amended, requires the MHSC members to ensure that the 
Mine Health and Safety Council maintain a full and proper record of its financial affairs. The Annual Financial Statements should 
fairly present the state of affairs of the Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC), its financial results, its performance against 
predetermined objectives and its financial position at the end of the year in terms of the Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP) and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP).

The Annual Financial Statements are the responsibility of the Council members.  The external auditors are responsible for 
independently auditing and reporting on the financial statements.  The Office of the Auditor-General has audited the MHSC’s 
financial statements and the Auditor-General’s report appears on Page 48. 

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP). These Annual Financial Statements are based on appropriate 
accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

The Council members have reviewed the MHSC’s budget and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2010.  On the 
basis of this review, and in view of the current financial position, the members, with the concurrence of the auditors, have every 
reason to believe that the MHSC will be a going concern in the year ahead.  The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
on this basis.
 
To enable the Council members to meet the above responsibilities, the MHSC sets standards and implements systems of 
internal control and risk management that are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatements and losses.  The entity maintains internal financial controls to provide assurance regarding the safeguarding of 
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, and the maintenance of proper accounting records and the reliability of financial 
information used within the business or for publication.

The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are identified.  A system 
of internal control, however, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility of circumvention or 
the overriding of controls.  An effective system of internal control therefore aims to provide reasonable assurance with respect 
to the reliability of financial information and, in particular, the presentation of financial statements.  Furthermore, because of 
changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal financial controls may vary over time. 

The Council members have reviewed the entity’s systems of internal control and risk management for the period from 1 
April 2009 to 31 March 2010.  The Council members are of the opinion that the entity’s systems of internal control and risk 
management were effective for the period under review, other than for the issues highlighted in the Council report under 
control systems and record keeping and non-compliance to the PFMA.

cHaPter 4: stateMent of resPonsIBIlIty

for tHe year ended 31 MarcH 2010
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In the opinion of the members of Council, based on the information available to date, the Annual Financial Statements fairly 
present the financial position of the MSHC as at 31 March 2010 and the results of its operations and cash flow information for 
the year. It is the opinion of the members of Council that acceptable Codes of Business Conduct have been adhered to.

The Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2010, as set out on pages 65 to 101, were approved by the Council 
in terms of section 51(1)(f) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended,  are signed on its behalf by:

…………………………………… ……………………………………
P Maruping  T Gazi
Chief Executive Officer of the MHSC Chairperson of the MHSC

31st July 2010 31st July 2010



48 MHSC AnnuAl RepoRt   |  2009/2010

cHaPter 5: rePort By tHe audItor-General

rePort of tHe audItor-General to ParlIaMent on tHe 
fInancIal stateMents of MIne HealtH and safety councIl 
(MHsc) for tHe year ended 31 MarcH 2010

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Mine Health and Safety Council, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2010, and the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash 
flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, 
accounting authority’s report, as set out on pages 65 to 101.

Accounting Authority’s responsibility for the financial statements

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with South African Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and in the manner required 
by the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa 1999 (Act No.1 of 1999) (PFMA). This responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and 
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

As required by section 188 of the Constitution of South Africa and section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South Africa 2004 (Act 
No. 25 of 2004) (PAA), my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1570 of 2009 issued in 
Government Gazette 32758 of 27 November 2009. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from  
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
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Opinion

In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Mine Health and 
Safety Council as at 31 March 2010, its financial performance, and cash flow for the year then ended in all material respects, in 
accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and in a manner required by the PFMA.

Emphasis of matter

I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters:

Restatement of prior year figures

As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2009 have been restated as a result 
of an error discovered during 31 March 2010 in the financial statements of the Mine Health and Safety Council at, and for the 
year ended 31 March 2009.

Irregular expenditure

As disclosed in note 5.2 to the financial statements, irregular expenditure to the amount of R799 000 was incurred as as a 
proper procurement process had not been followed.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

As disclosed in note 5.3 to the financial statements, fruitless and wasteful expenditure to the amount of R104 000 was incurred 
as a result of cancellation of launch event.

Material losses through impairment losses

As disclosed in note 5.7 to the financial statements, material losses to the amount of R755 000 were incurred as a result of 
impairment of the research assets.

Material underspending of the budget

As disclosed in note 22 reconciliation of the surplus of the budget appropriation statement, the entity has materially 
underspent the budget on research assets to the amount of R23 870 000. As a consequence, the entity has not achieved some  
of the objectives.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In terms of the PAA of South Africa and General notice 1570 of 2009, issued in Government Gazette No. 32758 of 27 
November 2009 I include below my findings on the report on predetermined objectives and compliance with the PFMA and 
financial management (internal control).
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Findings

Predetermined objectives

No matters to report

Compliance with laws and regulations

No matters to report

INTERNAL CONTROL

I considered internal controls relevant to my audit of the financial statements and the report on predetermined objectives and 
compliance with the PFMA, but not for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal controls. The 
matters reported are limited to the deficiencies identified during the audit.

No matters to report

Pretoria

31 July 2010

rePort By tHe audItor-General continued...
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rePort of tHe MHsc audIt coMMIttee 
for tHe year ended 31 MarcH 2010

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2010.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance: 

The Audit Committee consists of the members listed hereunder and meets at least 4 times per annum as per its approved terms 
of reference. Over and above the 4 mandatory meetings as prescribed by the terms of reference, the Audit Committee meets 
on an adhoc basis as and when it is necessary. During the current year six meetings were held.

Name of Member
Number of 

Meetings Held
Number of  

Meetings Attended
Comments on membership and 

attendance

Dr D Konar (Chairman) 6 4 Resigned

Mr C Rivett-Carnac 6 5 Resigned

Mr F Sterhing 6 3 Resigned

Ms LT Fosu (Chairperson) 6 2 Appointed

Ms. T Sihlaba 6 2 Appointed

Mr. Z Fihlani 6 1 Appointed

Mr. K Gaonnwe 6 5 Appointed

Mr. J Hugo 6 1 Appointed

cHaPter 6: audIt coMMIttee rePort
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Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a) of the Public Finance 
Management Act, as amended (PFMA) and Treasury Regulations 27.1.7 and 21.1.10(b) and (c). 

s51(1)(a)(ii) of the PFMA states the following:
  (a) The accounting authority must ensure that the public entity has and maintains – 
  (i)  effective, efficient and transparent systems of financial and risk management and internal control;
  (ii) a system of internal audit under the control and direction of an Audit Committee complying with and operating  
   in accordance with regulations and instructions prescribed in terms of sections 76 and 77; and
  (iii) an appropriate procurement and provisioning system which is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and  
   cost effective.

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit Committee Charter, 
has regulated its affairs in compliance with this Charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

The Audit Committee is of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management and the internal 
auditors on the results of their audits and the status in addressing the matters raised, that the internal accounting controls are 
operating effectively but there could be some improvement in certain areas within the organisation, to ensure that the financial 
records are relied upon for preparing the annual financial statements, and accountability for assets and liabilities is maintained.

Nothing significant has come to the attention of the Audit Committee to indicate that any material breakdown in the functioning 
of these controls, procedures and systems has occurred during the year under review.

The Quality of In-Year Management and Monthly and Quarterly Reports 
Submitted in Terms of the PFMA

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued by the 
MHSC during the year under review. However the Audit committee has noted challenges regarding delays in implementing 
research projects face by MHSC. The Audit Committee is satisfied with the plan to be implemented by management in  
addressing these challenges and the impact will be monitored continuously in the new financial year.

audIt coMMIttee rePort continued...
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Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee has evaluated the Annual Financial Statements of the Mine Health and Safety for the year ended  
31 March 2010 and based on the information provided to us, concurs and accepts the Auditor General’s conclusions on these 
financial statements.  The committee is of the opinion that the audited Annual Financial Statements should be accepted and read 
together with the report of the Auditor-General.

Internal audit

The Committee is satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it continues to provide assurance in 
relation to the risks pertinent to the MHSC in its audit.

---------------------------------------
Ms. LJ Fosu
Chairman of the Audit Committee

31 July 2010
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Introduction

Corporate Governance is concerned with the organisational arrangements that have been put in place to provide an appropriate 
set of checks and balances within which the stewards of the MHSC operate.  The objective is to ensure that those to whom the 
stakeholders entrust the direction and success of the MHSC, act in the best interest of these stakeholders.

The members of MHSC are committed to the principles of openness, integrity and accountability advocated by the King Report 
for Corporate Governance for South Africa 2002 (King II report) as well as the Protocol on Corporate Governance in the 
Public Sector 2003.Through this process, the stakeholders may derive assurance that the company is being ethically managed 
according to prudently determined risk parameters in compliance with generally accepted corporate practices.

Stakeholders

The Mine Health and Safety Council is represented by an equal number of members from State, Employees (organised labour) 
and Employers. In addition to the interests of these stakeholders, the MHSC acknowledges the interests of other stakeholders, 
including employees in the MHSC office, creditors, customers, suppliers and service providers.

The entity promptly and openly communicates with all stakeholders on material matters of significant interest and concern to 
stakeholders with emphasis on substance, relevance,  clarity, effectiveness, transparency and objectivity.  The MHSC places great 
emphasis on reporting both financial and performance matters.

Governing Bodies

The MHSC is a statutory entity established and governed in terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act (Act No. 29 of 1996 as 
amended in 2008) (MHSA) and is listed as a schedule 3 public entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act (Act No. 
1 of 1999) (PFMA). The MHSC reports to the Minister of Mineral Resources and the Minister appoints members to serve on 
the  MHSC. In terms of the MHSA, five members represent the Department of Mineral Resources, five represent Employees of 
mines and five represent Mine Employers.  The Chairperson of the MHSC is the Chief Inspector of Mines.

The MHSC provides quarterly and annual reports on its performance to the executive authority as prescribed in the PFMA. 
Such reports are submitted within the stipulated time frames.

The MHSC adheres to the requirements of the Public Finance Management Act, and applies the South African Statements 
of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) in presenting its 
Annual Financial Statements.

Functions and Duties of the Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC)

In terms of Section 43 of the MHSA, the MHSC must:
a. Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines including, but not limited to, any regulations on mine rehabilitation in so  
 far as they concern health and safety;
b. Co-ordinate the activities of its committees, receive reports from the committees and liaise with the Mining Qualifications  
 Authority (MQA) on matters relating to health and safety;

cHaPter 7: corPorate GoVernance stateMent

for tHe year ended 31 MarcH 2010
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c. Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned with matters relating to health and safety;
d. Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry;
e. Arrange and co-ordinate a tripartite summit to review the state of health and safety at mines at least once  
 every two years; and 
f. Perform every duty imposed upon the MHSC in terms of the MHSA.

Mine Health and Safety Council (MHSC)

During the period under review the MHSC convened five meetings; the Council members and their participation is indicated 
in the table below.

Member Name per 
Stakeholder grouping

Total number 
of meetings

Total  
Meetings 
Attended

Comments on membership and attendance

State

Mr T Gazi 4 4
Chairperson and Group Convenor until February 
2010 

Mr M Zondi 1 1
Acting Chairperson and Group Convenor  from 
March 2010

MrT Dube 5 5  

Dr N Maku  5 1 Member until December 2009 

Mr X Mbonambi 5 4  

Mr D Msiza 5 3  

Employees

Mr M Nhlapo 5 5 Group Convenor

Mr E Gcilitshana 5 0  

Mr P Hlabizulu 5 4  

Mr J Henning 4 0 Member until January 2010 

Mr SF Stehring 5 4  

Employers

Mr S van der Woude 5 5 Group Convenor

Mr V Maseko 5 1 Member until January 2010 

Dr L La Grange 5 4  

Mr B Nyirenda 5 3  

Mr J Viljoen 5 1  
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corPorate GoVernance stateMent continued...

The MHSC has the following permanent committees assisting with the performance of its duties:

Safety in Mines Research Advisory Committee (SIMRAC)

SIMRAC advises the MHSC on research to improve OHS in the mining sector by reviewing OHS risks based on the statistics of 
the previous year. The committee further reviews the funding for OHS research by monitoring research proposals, overseeing 
research progress and assisting in the technology transfer of research outcomes. For the period under review, SIMRAC met on 
seven (7) occasions towards fulfilling its mandated role, attendance per member is tabulated below. 

Member Name per 
Stakeholder grouping

Total 
number of 
meetings

Total  
Meetings 
Attended

Comments on membership and 
attendance

State

Mr T Dube 7 6 Chairperson

Mr  A A  Coutinho 7 4  

Ms p Mnisi 7 6 Group Convenor 

Mrs O Masekoa 7 5  

Mr T Motitimi 7 7  

Mr X Mbonambi 7 4 (Alternative member) 

Employees

Mr E Gcilitshana 7 2 Group Convenor

Mr A Rikhotso 7 7  

Mr M Nhlapho 7 4  

Mr K Jooste 7 2  

Mr H Laufs 3 0 Deceased

Employers

Mr I Ally 7 6 Group Convenor

Mr B Chicksen 7 5  

Dr B Madolo 7 2  

Dr T Balfour-Kaipa 7 3  

Mr G More O’Farrel 2 1 Member until July 2009
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Mining Regulation Advisory Committee (MRAC)

The role of this committee is to provide advice to MHSC by reviewing, developing or amending legislation that impact on OHS 
within the South African Mining Industry. Further to this, MRAC also considers and develops guidelines for Codes of Practice. 
Attendance by members for the 2009/2010 year is listed below. 

Member Name per 
Stakeholder grouping

Total 
number of 
meetings

Total  
Meetings 
Attended

Comments on membership and attendance

State

Mr D Msiza 6 6 Chairperson and Group Convenor

Mr A Coutinho 6 6  

Ms B Senabe 6 6  

Mr G Ndamse 6 5  

Mr D Janse  van Rensburg 6 4  

Mr S Ramabulana 6 2 (Alternate member)

Mr T Motitimi 6 1 (Alternate member)

Mr N Mokhonoana 6 3 (Alternate member)

Mr F Nkuna 6 3 (Alternate member)

Employees

Mr L Mekuto 6 6 Group Convenor

Mr A van Heerden 6 4  

Mr H Griezel 6 2  

Mr E Nkosi 6 2 (Deceased)

Employers

Mr A van Achterbergh 6 5 Group Convenor

Ms C Dixon 6 5  

Mr G Coetzee 6 5  

Mr J Britz 6 3  

Mr D Baker 6 2 Member until November 2009
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corPorate GoVernance stateMent continued...

Mining Occupational Health Advisory Committee (MOHAC)

MOHAC is very specifically mandated to provide advice to the MHSC on all matters pertaining to Health issues that impact 
on mineworkers within the sector. The committee focuses its attention on policies and regulatory mechanisms relating to 
health risks. Furthermore standard systems and procedures for assessing, avoiding, controlling and minimising such health risks 
are reviewed by this committee. Seven meetings were held during the year under review with the attendance of members,  
listed below.

Member Name per 
Stakeholder grouping

Total 
number of 
meetings

Total  
Meetings 
Attended

Comments on membership and attendance

State

Dr N T Maku 5 4 Chairperson until December 2009

Dr D  Mokoboto 7 5
Chairperson from January 2010 and 
Group Convenor

Ms B Senabe 7 7  

Ms N  Masekoa 7 7  

Employees

Ms P Mboniswa 7 2 Group Convenor

Mr T Popela 7 1  

Mr M Mira 7 7  

Mr D Selebogo 7 4  

Mr G Ellis 7 0  

Mr N Naude 7 0  

Employers

Dr T Balfour-Kaipa 7 5 Group Convenor

Dr C Mbekeni 5 4 Member from May 2009

Dr D Burger 7 1  

Dr C Badenhorst 7 5  

Mr M Beukes 7 2  

Dr R Hansia 7 5
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MHSC Audit Committee

The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a written charter approved by the MHSC, and provides assistance to 
the MHSC with regards to compliance to all the necessary and appropriate regulatory frameworks. : The Audit Committee 
adequately addressed its responsibilities in terms of the charter during the period under review. The Audit Committee met 
six times during the period under review. The committee comprises of stakeholder nominated by MHSC stakeholders and 
independent members. It is chaired by an independent chairperson.

Member Name per 
Stakeholder grouping

Total 
number of 
meetings

Total  
Meetings 
Attended

Comments on membership and attendance

State

Mr K Gaonnwe 6 5

Employees 

Mr F Sterhing 5 3 Replaced by J Hugo March 2010

Mr J Hugo 1 1

Employers

Mr C Rivett-Carnac 6 5

Independent 

Ms L Fosu 2 2 Chairperson since  December 2009

Ms T Sihlaba 2 2 Member since December 2009 

Mr Z Fihlani 2 1 Member since December 2009 

Dr L Konar 4 4 Chairperson until September 2009

Human Resource and Remuneration Committee 

The HR/Remuneration Committee was dissolved during the previous year and the mandate was transferred to the MHSC 
Convenors. The Committee advises the MHSC on remuneration and other terms of employment. Other responsibilities 
include recommendations to the MHSC on matters relating to general staff policy, remuneration, bonuses, executive 
remuneration, independent member remuneration and fees and service contracts.  The Committee met twice during the period  
under review.

Internal Control

The MHSC has ultimate responsibility for the system of internal controls. Towards this end the MHSC ensures that the system 
of internal control, which is embedded in all key operations, provides reasonable assurance that the business objectives will be 
achieved within the risk tolerance levels defined by the MHSC. 

The MHSC also receives assurance from the Audit Committee which partly derives its information from regular internal and 
external audit reports on risk and internal control matters.
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corPorate GoVernance stateMent continued...

Risk Management

Risk is defined as an event that may have an impact on the ability of the company to achieve its business objectives. The MHSC’s 
risk management process has four broad steps:
 • Risk identification
 • Risk assessment and treatment
 • Monitoring and reporting
 • Auditing

The MHSC is accountable for the risk management process, and retains control through the final review of key risk matters 
affecting the organisation. The MHSC is satisfied that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks faced by the MHSC.  A risk management framework and register are in place, and are reviewed for effectiveness 
and relevance.

Internal Audit

The internal auditor function has been outsourced and is established in terms of S51 (1) (ii) of the PFMA. An internal audit 
charter was in place as stipulated by TR 27.2.5, setting out its purpose, authority and responsibilities. The internal audit  
function reports to the Audit Committee and attends all Audit Committee meetings.  The internal audit function provides an 
independent, objective appraisal and evaluation of the risk management processes, internal controls and governance processes, 
and they identify corrective actions and suggest enhancements to the controls and processes.

A risk-based audit plan was implemented for the period under review. The internal audit function coordinates with external 
auditors to ensure adequate coverage and to minimise duplication of effort.

Going Concern

The MHSC members have reviewed the MHSC’s budget and cash flow forecasts for the year ending 31 March 2010.  On the 
basis of this review, and in view of the current financial position, the members, with the concurrence of the auditors, have every 
reason to believe that the MHSC will be a going concern in the year ahead.  The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
on this basis.
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Introduction

The members of MHSC hereby present the audited Annual Financial Statements of the MHSC for the year ended 31 March 
2010.  The Mine Health and Safety Council was established, in terms of the Mine Health and Safety Act (Act No. 29 of 1996), 
as amended (MHSA), and is listed as a national public entity under schedule 3A of the Public Finance Management Act  
(Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), as amended. The MHSC acts as the Accounting Authority in terms of the PFMA. 

MHSC Principal Activities 

In terms of Section 43, of the MHSA the MHSC must: 
• Advise the Minister on health and safety at mines including, but not limited to, any regulations on mine rehabilitation in so  
 far as they concern health and safety; 
• Co-ordinate the activities of its committees, receive reports from the committees and liaise with the Mining Qualifications  
 Authority on matters relating to health and safety; 
• Liaise with any other statutory bodies concerned with matters relating to health and safety; 
• Promote a culture of health and safety in the mining industry; 
• Arrange and coordinate a tripartite summit to review the state of health and safety at mines at least once every two  
 years; and 
• Perform every duty imposed upon the MHSC in terms of the MHSA. 

Operating Results 

During the period under review the MHSC posted a surplus of R14.9 million (R24,7 million in 2009).

Review of Operations

Levies

The funding required to cover the costs for the research programme is generated from levies on mines, which is fixed on  
an annual basis. 

Levies were imposed on approximately 736 mines (2009: 819 mines) during the period under review.  This resulted in the  
following amounts being levied before fair value adjustment of R1,206 million (2009 - R1,604 million);

2010
R’000

2009 
R’000

levies 48 432 48 103 

Gold and Platinum 35 468 34 706 

Coal 4 773 4 894 

other 8 191 8 503 

cHaPter 8: councIl rePort
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2010 
R’000

2009 
R’000

Research projects      18,462   16,393 

Rock falls 6,247 2,888

Rock bursts 68 603

Machinery and transport 545 704

Explosions and fires 124 484

Airborne pollutants 5,852 6,359

Occupational diseases 360 811

Special projects 5,451 4,747

Fair Value  adjustment Research 
Expenses

(185) (203)

Research Expenditure 

The following research expenditure was incurred: 

Actual research expenditure for the year under review has increased by 12.6% compared to the 2009 financial year.  A new 
research process has been developed in an attempt to streamline the processes, however it must be noted that payments are 
done on receipt of reports and milestones being achieved. Some of the reasons for the under-expenditure include: 

• Projects have had penalties imposed on them due to poor delivery either due to non-compliance on contractual  
 issues (e.g. late delivery) or due to technical issues (e.g. non-delivery against approved project deliverables). 
• Administrative delays related to compliance issues such as submission of tax clearance certificates and  sub-contractor as  
 well as project team utilisation.
These penalties and delays impact on the payment schedules.

Administrative Expenses

This MHSC office is funded through allocation from DMR and levies. The total costs related to administrative expenses for 2010 
were R26, 1 million (2009: R20, 6 million), which were funded through a DMR contribution of R5, 1 million (2009: R4, 9 million), 
levy contribution of R6 million (2009: R6 million) and the remainder from interest received. 

The 27% non-research expenditure increase is mainly due to an increase in property rental, seminars and increased impairment 
provision on receivables.

Administrative Fines 

Administrative fines are imposed by the MHSI in terms of Section 55A (1) of the MHSA. In terms of the Act, administrative 
fines collected must be spent on the promotion of health and safety on mines. Administrative fines not utilised accumulate in a 
separate account.  As the funds are utilised, they are recognised as income. For the period under review there was an utilisation 
of R9 000 compared to R 378 000 in 2009.

councIl rePort continued...
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Review of Financial Position 

Assets 

• During the period under review the MHSC purchased new assets at a cost of R0, 726 million (2009: R1, 59 million). 
• The useful lives of the assets were revalued for the period under review. 

Investments 

Investments increased from R77,3 million (in 2009) to R97,6 million. This increase is due to a delay in the commencement  
of projects, which resulted in a higher level of investments. 

Trade and Other Receivables 

Trade and other receivables decreased by R5,1 million. This is mainly due the write off of levy debt amounting to  
R2, 4 million and increased provision for write off due to the economic decline that resulted in mines not paying on time. 

Correction of Error

During the current financial year the following errors in previous financial year were discovered and corrected:

• Research expenses were understated by R977 000.
• The expensed fair value adjustment were not effected for R394 000.
• The creditors fair value adjustment were not effected for R72 000.
• The Photocopiers were incorrectly classified as operating Leases instead of Finance Lease.
• Leave Pay was incorrectly classified under provisions instead of accruals.
• Performance Bonus was incorrectly classified under accruals instead of provisions.
• Fixed assets were misallocated by R61 000.
• Accumulated Depreciation was understated by R1 000.
• Cell phones costs were incorrectly classified as Operating Expenses instead of Finance leases.
• Post retirement medical liability was understated by R509 000.

Materiality and Significance Framework 

A materiality and significance framework for reporting losses through criminal conduct and irregular, fruitless and wasteful 

expenditure, as well as for approval of significant transactions, as envisaged by section 54(2) of the PFMA, has been developed 

and submitted to the DMR. 

Income and Receivables 

The MHSC relies on the integrity of links between its invoicing systems and the mining databases SAMRASS and SAMINDEX to 

invoice levies. To ensure that the accurate data is used the MHSC only uses data signed off by the DMR. 
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Debt Collection Agency 

During 1999, a debt collection agency, Financial Solutions, absconded with R6,2 million levy monies collected on behalf of the 

DMR. The amount has not been written off, but was fully provided for in the 2005/6 financial year. The legal process instituted 

by the DMR and the MHSC in this regard has not yet been concluded.

Irregular Expenditure

Irregular expenditure incurred during the period under review is disclosed under note 5.2 on page 79.

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred during the period under review is disclosed under note 5.3 on page 80. 

Non-compliance with S51 of the PFMA 

The MHSC achieved significant compliance with the PFMA for the period under review. 

Events Subsequent to Financial Position Date 

The members of the MHSC are not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year, not 

otherwise dealt with in the Annual Financial Statements, which significantly affect the financial position of the MHSC or the 

results of its operations.

Stakeholder Relations 

The MHSC is a tripartite body comprising 15 members representing the mining industry stakeholders; that is, five members 

from the State, five members from the Employers (the mines) and five members representing Employees (labour unions in 

the mining industry). The MHSC endeavours to maintain good stakeholder relations and abides by the principles of tripartism.  

The MHSC endeavours to achieve decision-making by consensus and conforms to the decision-making processes set out  

in its Constitution. 

Addresses 

The entity’s business, postal and registered addresses are as follows: 
Business address/domicile: 
Building B7, Woodmead Business Park, 145 Western Service Road, Republic of South Africa 
Postal address: 
Private Bag X63, Braamfontein, 2017, South Africa
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   2010 2009
  Note R’000 R’000

Income  59,916  62,382 
Revenue from non-exchange transactions 2  52,093   52,921 

Revenue from exchange transactions    
 Finance income 3  7,235  9,285 
 Other income 4  588   176 
     
Expenditure  45,004  37,671 
Research expenditure 5.4  18,462   16,394 
Administrative expenses 5.5  4,194   5,997 
Staff costs 5.6  9,937   9,475 
Depreciation and amortisation 8  1,095   788 
Operating expenses 5.7  10,959  4,269 
Promotion of Health And Safety 5.8  9   378 
Finance costs 5.9  348   370 
    
Net Surplus for the year 5  14,912  24,711

stateMent of fInancIal PerforMance

for tHe year ended 31 MarcH 2010
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    2010  2009 
  Note   R’000  R’000 
 
ASSETS     
Current assets   116,074  100,359 
 Cash and cash equivalents   6   101,342  80,544 
 Levy receivables (non-exchange)   7   13,225  17,673 
 Other receivables (exchange)   7   1,507  2,142 

Non-current assets   2,265  3,640 
 Property, plant and equipment   8   2,134  3,472 
  Intangible assets   9   131  168 
     
TOTAL ASSETS   118,339  103,998 

LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities    9,630  10,214 
 Trade and other payables (exchange)   10   7,069  7,663 
 Unallocated deposits (non-exchange)   10   36  253 
 Unutilised administrative fines (non-exchange)   11   1,670  1,455 
 Provisions (exchange)   12   760  758 
 Finance lease current liability   14   95  85 
     
Non-current liabilities   1,935  1,922 
 Post - retirement medical aid   13   1,132  1,353 
 Unallocated deposits (non-exchange)   10   709  379 
 Finance lease non current liability   14   94  190 
     
NET ASSETS   106,774  91,862 
     
 Accumulated Surplus    106,774  91,862 
     
TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES   118,339  103,998 

stateMent of fInancIal PosItIon

at 31 MarcH 2010
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   Accumulated surplus 
  Note  R’000 

Restated Balance at 31 March 2008  67,150 

Net surplus as previously stated  at 31 March 2009  26,083 
   
Correction of error 15 (1,371) 
   
Restated balance at 31 March 2009  91,862 
   
Net surplus for year to 31 March 2010  14,912 
   
Balance at 31 March 2010  106,774 

stateMent of cHanGes In net assets

for tHe year ended 31 MarcH 2010
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casH floW stateMent

for tHe year ended 31 MarcH 2010

   2010 2009
  Note  R’000  R’000 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
 Cash receipts from mines and other sources   54,875  48,407 
 Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (40,585) (35,386)
     
CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 16  14,290  13,021

 Interest earned   7,235  9,285 
     
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  21,525  22,306 
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
 Additions to plant and equipment  (727) (1,598)
     
NET CASH OUT FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (727) (1,598)
     
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  20,798  20,708 
     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  80,544  59,836 
     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 6  101,342  80,544 
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1  ACCOUNTING POLICIES        

The annual financial statements incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.    
        
 1.1 Basis of Preparation
        
  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally  
  Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by  
  the Accounting Standards Board.  
 
  1.1.2 Specific Information has Been Presented Separately on the Statement such as:  
      
   a.  Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers;   
   b.  Taxes and transfers payable; and       
   c.  Trade and other payables from non exchange transactions.     
        
  1.1.3 Going concern        

   The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the accounting policies  
   have been applied consistently throughout the period.     
   
 1.2 Currency        

   All amounts have been presented in the South African Rand ( R ) and amounts have been rounded to the nearest  
   thousand (‘ 000).         

 1.3 Comparative Figures        

   Prior period comparative information has been presented in the current year’s financial statements.  
   Where necessary, figures included in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to ensure  
   that the format in which the information is presented is consistent with the format of the current year’s  
   financial statements.        

   Material prior period errors are corrected through the restatement of the comparative figures.  
      
 1.4     Taxation        

   The MHSC does not pay income tax, as it is exempt in terms of section 10(1) (ca) (i) (aa) of the Income  
   Tax Act (Act No. 58 of 1962, as amended).       
 
 1.5     Related Parties and Key Management Transactions     
 
   Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise  
   significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions or if the related  
   party entity and another entity are subject to common control.      
   
        

notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents

as at 31 MarcH 2010
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   The MHSC operates in an economic environment currently dominated by entities directly on indirectly  
   owned by the South African government. As a result of the constitutional independence of all three spheres  
   of government in South Africa, only parties within the national sphere of government will be considered to  
   be related parties.        

   Only those transactions that are not at arms length or not in the ordinary course of business are disclosed  
   as related party transactions.        
        
   Key management is defined as being individuals (including their close family members) with the authority  
   and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. The Chief Executive  
   Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Research and  Operations Officer are the only executive  
   positions regarded as being at key management level.     

   Close family members of key management are considered to be those family members who may be expected  
   to influence, or be influenced by key management individuals or other parties related to the entity.  
      
 1.6    Post-Employment Benefit Plan       
 
   The MHSC operates a defined benefit medical aid plan. The defined benefit obligations in terms of the post- 
   retirement medical aid, the related current service cost, and where applicable the past service cost are  
   determined by using the projected unit credit method. 
       
   The valuation is based on an employer subsidy of 100% of Liberty Life Medical Scheme membership costs  
   in retirement for members on the Liberty Platinum Plus option. In case of death of a principal member,  
   his/her dependents may continue membership in which case the subsidy will continue at 70% of the  
   membership costs. The employer subsidy increases on 1 January each year with the next increase due on 1  
   January 2010. Details of the subsidy policy, including contribution rates, are provided in Annexure I. This  
   report gives a snapshot of the liability estimate as at 31 March 2010. It ignores any changes that the  
   employer may make to the subsidy policy in future that may have an impact on these liabilities.  
      
   The discount rate has been determined by reference to market yields at the financial position date of  
   South African long-term bonds.       
 
   General increases to the employer’s medical aid subsidy (“subsidy inflation”) take into account the estimated  

   future changes in the cost of medical services, resulting from both inflation and specific changes in medical costs. 
       
   There are currently no assets specifically earmarked to back the past service liability. The plan is thus not funded. 
       
   The accrued service liability (also referred to as the present value of the obligation, or the past service cost) is  
   calculated as the present day value of the employer’s subsidy to current in-service members which is  
   deemed to have accrued as at 31 March 2010.  The subsidy is deemed to accrue with each completed year  
   of service from the date of employment up to the retirement date.     
   
        

notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents continued...
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 1.7    Significant Judgements        

   In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions  
   that affect the application of policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses,  
   and related disclosures. Historical experience and various other factors believed to be reasonable under the  
   circumstances are used in these instances. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates.  
   Significant judgement has been exercised in determining the following:    
    
   1.7.1 Fair value Estimation       
 
    The amortised cost (using the effective interest method), less impairment provision of trade  
    receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The present value of future  
    cash flows (using the effective interest method), is assumed to approximate the fair value of revenue  
    and purchase transactions. (Refer to note 1.14)      
        
   1.7.2 Impairment Testing        

    The entity makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measureable  
    decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset, and in determining the  
    recoverable amounts of cash generating units and individual assets. Refer to note number: 1.13. 
       
   1.7.3 Property, Plant and Equipment       
 
    Residual values and useful lives are assessed on an annual basis and this involves estimates and  
    judgement calls. Refer to notes 1.15, 1.16, 8 and 9.     
   
   1.7.4 Post-retirement Benefit Obligation      
  
    Certain assumptions are made in the annual actuarial valuation. Refer to notes 1.6 and 13. 
       
   1.7.5 Provisions         

    Provisions are based on estimates using the information available to management at reporting  
    date. Refer to notes 1.17 and 12.      
 
 1.8 Revenue         

   1.8.1 Revenue is initially recognised at fair value.      
  
    Government grants are recognised when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow  
    to the public entity and these benefits can be measured reliably. The grant is recognised as income  
    to the extent that there are no further obligations arising from the receipt of the grant.  
    Government grants received for the purpose of giving immediate financial support with no future  
    related costs are recognised as revenue in the period in which they become receivable. Government  
    grants related to specific expenditure are deferred and recognised in the year during which the  
    expenses are incurred.       
 
 1.8.2 Revenue Comprises: 
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  •  Net invoiced value of levies determined by the MHSC, in terms of regulations issued in terms of the  
   Mine Health and  Safety Act, 1996 (Act No. 29 of 1996), (MHSA). Levies are recognised as income when  
   they become receivable and the conditions attached thereto have been met.  
  • Administrative Fines are levied by the Department of Mineral Resources (DMR), in terms of Section 55  
   of the MHSA,  for breaches of certain sections of the same act.  Administrative Fines are recorded as Deferred  
   Income when they become receivable and are then recognised as income when conditions attached  
   thereto are met.   
  • Government transfers/funding: The DMR funds part of the administrative activities of the MHSC offices  
   via a transfer payment. These funds are recognised as income on receipt as there are no conditions  
   attached thereto.        

 1.9       Finance Income        

   Finance income comprises interest receivable on positive bank balances and funds invested, and the fair  
   value adjustment (difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of the consideration) on initial  
   recognition of income. Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, taking into account the  
   principal outstanding and the effective interest rate over the period to maturity.    
     
 1.10 Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure 

   Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with, a  
   requirement of any applicable legislation, including the PFMA. Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means  
   expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised.  All  

   irregular and fruitless expenditure costs are charged against income in the period in which they are incurred. 
       
 1.11 Material Losses        

   Material losses are losses incurred that do not comprise normal expenditure or income due  
   to the MHSC and not recovered.       
 
 1.12 Leases         

   Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and  
   rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.    
     
   1.12.1 Finance Leases        

    Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets at their fair value at inception, or if lower,  
    at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is  
    included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.    
     
        



73MHSC AnnuAl RepoRt   |  2009/2010

    Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation, so  
    as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance costs,  
    which represent the difference between the total lease commitments and the fair value of the  
    assets acquired, are charged to the statement of financial performance over the term of the  
    relevant lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of  
    the obligations for each accounting period.      
  
   1.12.2 Operating Lease Payments
        
    Payments under operating leases are recognised in the statement of financial performance on a  
    straight line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the  
    statement of financial performance as an integral part of the total lease expense.  
      
 1.13 Impairment of Assets        

   1.13.1 Impairment of Non Financial Assets      
  
    At each financial position date, the MHSC reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible  
    assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets may be impaired.  If any  
    such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the  
    extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable  
    amount for an individual asset, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit  
    to which the asset belongs.       
 
    The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less point of sale costs to sell and value in use.  
    In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value,  
    using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money  
    and the risks specific to the asset.       
 
    If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying  
    amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  Impairment  
    losses are immediately recognised as an expense, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued  
    amount under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation  
    decrease under the standard.       
 
    Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash  
    generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the  
    increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined  
    had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment  
    loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.     
   
   1.13.2 Impairment of Financial Assets       
 
    Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), are assessed for  
    indicators of impairment at each financial position date. Financial assets are impaired where there  
    is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial  
    recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been  
    impacted. For financial assets held at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the  
    difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cashflows,  
    discounted at the original effective interest rate.       
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    For all other financial assets, except unlisted shares classified as available for sale, including  
    redeemable notes classified as available for sale, and finance lease receivables, objective evidence  
    of impairment could include: significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty, or default  
    or delinquency in interest or principal payments or it becoming probable that the borrower will  
    enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.      
  
    The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all  
    financial assets, with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced  
    through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written  
    off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance  
    account are recognised in the surplus or deficit.      
        
    With the exception of available for sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount  
    of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring  
    after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed  
    through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at  the date of the  
    impairment reversal, does not exceed what the amortised cost  would have been had the  
    impairment not been recognised.
        
     Accounts receivable, carried at amortised cost, are assessed for impairment on two levels:
   • Firstly, the MHSC separately assesses each individually significant receivable for objective  
    evidence of impairment. If the MHSC determines that no objective evidence of  
    impairment exists for an individually assessed receivable, it includes the receivable in a  
    group of receivables for collective assessment of impairment.
   • The MHSC then also assesses whether objective evidence (of impairment) exists  
    individually or collectively for receivables that are not individually significant.  
         
     The MHSC’s receivables are grouped on a basis of similar credit risk characteristics that are  
     indicative of receivables’ ability to pay all amounts due.     
   
 1.14 Financial Instruments        

   Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the  
   basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class  
   of financial asset, financial liability and equity instruments are disclosed below:    
    
   Recognition         
   Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the MHSC’s statement of financial position when  
   the MHSC becomes a party to the contractual provision of the instrument and the provisions create an  
   obligation to receive or deliver cash.       
 
   1.14.1 Financial Assets        

   • Initial Recognition        
    Investments are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an  
    investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the  
    time frame established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, plus  
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    transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss,  
    which are initially measured at fair value.      
        
    Financial assets can be classified into the following specified categories: financial assets at fair  
    value through profit or loss, (FVTPL), held to maturity investments, available for sale (AFS) financial  
    assets and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the  
    financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.    
    
    All financial assets of the MHSC  are categorised as loans and receivables.   
     
   • Subsequent Measurement       
    Subsequent to initial recognition, these instruments are measured as set out below:  
      
   • Loans and Receivables        
    Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that re  
    not quoted in an active market are classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are  
    measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  
    Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short term  
    receivables, where the recognition of interest would be immaterial.    
    
   • Effective interest Method        
    The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset  
    and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate  
    that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received  
    that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or  
    discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter  
    period. Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those  
    financial assets designated as at FVTPL.       
 
   • De-Recognition        
    MHSC derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the  
    asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of  
    ownership of the asset to another entity. If MHSC neither transfers nor retains substantially all  
    the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, MHSC  
    recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to  
    pay. If MHSC retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial  
    asset, MHSC continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collaterised borrowing  
    for the proceeds received.       
 
   1.14. 2 Financial Liabilities       
 
    • Initial Recognition        
     Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or other financial liabilities. 
       
     All financial liabilities of the MHSC are classified as other financial liabilities.   
     
     Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.  
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    • Subsequent Measurement       
     Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at  amortised cost using the effective interest  
     method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.    
    

    • Effective Interest  Method       
     The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability  
     and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate  
     that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial  
     liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.      
  
    • Derecognition        
     Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled  
     or has expired.        

  1.15 Property, Plant and Equipment        

   1.15.1 Initial Recognition        
    Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, and  
    adjusted for any impairments. Where significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment  
    have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items.     
    
   1.15.2 Subsequent Costs        
    The MHSC recognises in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the  
    cost of replacing a part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future  
    economic benefits embodied in the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be  
    measured reliably.  All other costs are recognised in the statement of financial performance as  
    expenses when incurred.
         
   1.15.3 Depreciation        
    Depreciation is charged against the asset on a straight line basis so as to fully depreciate the  
    asset to its residual value at the end of its useful life, from the date available for use. Assets bought  
    specifically for a project and intended for donation at the end of the project’s life are depreciated  
    over the life of the contract as the residual value (to the MHSC) at that point would be nil. The  
    assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted if  
    appropriate, at each financial year-end.        
 
   1.15.4 Useful Lives        
    The following are the estimated useful lives of the categories of assets as well as the estimated  
    realisable values on disposal.       
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    Where residual values are expected to be negligible, they are reflected at nil value.  
      

Asset Life in Years
Information and Technology 5-10
Office equipment 5-10
Computer equipment 5-10
Computer software 2-8
Office Furniture - Chairs 10 
Office Furniture - Cabinets 15
Office Furniture - Desks 10 - 15
Office Furniture - Fittings 10 
Research assets Duration of the contract or useful life

       
    In terms of the requirements of GRAP 17 the useful lives of all asset items were reviewed by  
    management at year-end. The remaining useful lives’ expectations of some asset items differed  
    from previous estimates.        
 
   1.15.5 De-Recognition        
    The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised on disposal or when no  
    future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.    
    
   1.15.6 Gains and Losses        
    Gains and losses on disposal are included in the statement of financial performance and are  
    determined by comparing sales proceeds with carrying amounts.    
    
 1.16 Intangible Assets        

   1.16.1 Recognition        

    Internally Generated Intangible Assets (Research and Development Costs) 
    An internally generated intangible asset arising from the MHSC’s developments is recognised only  
    if all of the following conditions are met: 
 • an asset is created that can be identified (such as software and new processes)
 • it is probable that the asset created will generate future economic benefits, and
 • the development cost of the asset can be measured reliably   
 
 Where no internally generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is  
 recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.    
    
   1.16.2 Subsequent Costs       
 
    Amortisation        
    Each asset is amortised over its useful life once it is available for use. Internally generated intangible  
    assets are also amortised on a straight-line basis over their lives, which is usually between two and  
    eight years. The members of MHSC assess the carrying value of each intangible asset annually and  
    revisions or impairments are made where it is considered necessary.  
 



78 MHSC AnnuAl RepoRt   |  2009/2010

notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents continued...

    Useful Lives        
    The following is the estimated useful lives and realisable value of intangibles.  Where residual  
    values are expected to be negligible, they are reflected at nil value. 
       

Asset Life in Years Estimated Disposal Value Percentage

Intangible assets 2-8 Nil

  
    De-Recognition        
    The carrying amount of intangible assets is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic  
    benefits are expected from its use or disposal.      
  
    Gains and Losses        
    Gains and losses on disposal are included in the statement of financial performance and are  
    determined by comparing sales proceeds with carrying amounts.    
    
  1.17 Provisions        

   Provisions are recognised when the MHSC has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a  
   past event and it is probable that this will result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be estimated  
   reliably. Provisions are determined as the present value of future cash flows using discounted cash flow  
   techniques, where necessary.         

   The cost of the other employee benefits ( not recognised as retirement benefits) is recognised during  
   the period in which the employee renders the related service. Employee entitlements are recognised when  
   they accrue to employees. An accrual is raised for the estimated liability as a result of services rendered by  
   employees up to the reporting date. Termination benefits are recognised only when the payment is made.
        
 1.18 Contingent Liabilities        

   Contingent liabilities are disclosed as commitments when the MHSC has a possible obligation that will  
   probably result in an outflow of economic benefits depending on occurrence or non-occurrence of a future  
   event. Disclosed amounts in respect of contingent liabilities are measured on the basis of the best estimate,  
   using experience from similar transactions or reports from independent experts.   
     

2 Non exchange revene 
       
  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 Levies Received (Refer to note 2) 46,912 46,497     
 State funding (Refer to note 2) 5,118 4,909     
 Administrative fines (Note 11) 9 378     
 SARS refunds  54 1,137     
 TOTAL non exchange revenue  52,093   52,921      
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The SARS refunds consist of a reversal of the over-provision penalties on late payment of PAYE, made in the previous  
financial year of R 54 000.        

3 Exchange revenue        

 3.1 Finance Income        
  2010 2009    
  R’000 R’000    
 Interest Received      
 Investments 6,419 7,796    
 Other Interest 52 -    
 MHSC Administration 105 89    
  6,576   7,885     
 Fair value adjustment on initial recognition of income 659   1,400     
   7,235   9,285     
  
Other interest is on VAT refunds paid by SARS for R 52 000.       
 
4 Other Income 
  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 Royalty income   193   176      
 Net actuarial gain   395   -        
   588   176      
 
The royalty income is managed by the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR) in terms of a service level 
agreement and involve the sale of Stone dust Bags developed through SIMRAC project COL501. The royalty income is stated at  
fair value.         
        
The net actuarial gain represents the difference between the opening and closing balances of the accrued service liability with 
respect to the Post Retirement Medical Aid Benefit Plan. Refer to notes 1.6 and 13.     
   
5  Surplus from Operations        

The surplus of R14.9 m is mainly as a result of delays in starting research projects.     
   
 5.1 Material Losses, Irregular Expenses, Fruitless & Wasteful Expenditure   
     
   No material losses were incurred for the period under review.  However, a debt collection agency, Financial  
   Solutions absconded with R6,2 million of the MHSC’s levy monies in the 1999 financial year.  This amount has  
   not been written off but has been provided for. The internal controls over the debt collection have been  
   enhanced. The legal process instituted by the MHSC in this regard has not yet been concluded.    
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 5.2 Irregular Expenditure        
        
   The MHSC incurred the following irregular expenditure during the current financial year: 
   1.  Services were sourced from 2 different suppliers and 3 verbal quotations requested but order placed  
    without a written confirmation from the chosen supplier in each case as required by the PFMA.   No money  
    was lost as the services were duly rendered to the benefit of MHSC.    
   2.   The motivation for a sole supplier was inadequate for goods acquired to the value of R 390 000.  
   3.  Goods and services were acquired without valid tax clearance certificates from suppliers to the value of  
    R 196 000. One supplier has since submitted a tax clearance certificate.    
    
  2010 2009    
  R’000 R’000    
 Opening balance  -     -       
 Add: Irregular Expenditure - current year 799  -       
 Less: Amounts condoned  -     -       
 (not condoned)  -     -       
 Less:  Amounts not recoverable ( not condoned)  -     -       
 Irregular Expenditure awaiting condonation  799  -    
 
 The above amount is included in Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure under Operating Expenses.  
      
   5.2.2 incident
        
    The entity entered into lease agreements for equipment which are synonymous with the  
    definitions of a finance lease in terms of GRAP 13. Lease and Treasury regulations 32.2.2 whereby  
    significant risks and rewards were transferred to the entity as a lessee. These leases were not  
    supposed to have been entered into without approval from the Minister of Finance in terms of  
    Treasury regulation 32.2.5. Consequently payments made in terms of these agreements are  
    classified as irregular expenditure. It was not the intention of management to contravene the  
    PFMA or Treasury Regulations, but the intention was merely to obtain use of assets in return for  
    payments of rentals. At the time the leases were entered into, management was of the impression  
    that they were operating leases. Therefore no individual could be held liable for the irregular  
    expenditure incurred. Refer to notes no. 5.9 and 14.     
   
 5.3 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure       
 
   There was fruitless and wasteful expenditure incurred during the period under review to the value of  
   R 104 000.  This is due to the cancellation of a launch event (R 102 000), and SARS interest and penalties  
   (R 2 000). The corresponding amount for the prior year was R 4 000.     
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5.4 Research Expenditure        

Research expenditure comprises the following:        
  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 Research projects        
 
 Rock falls 6,247 2,888     
 Rock bursts 68 603     
 Machinery and transport 545 704     
 Explosions and fires 124 484     
 Airborne pollutants 5,852 6,359     
 Occupational diseases 360 811     
 Special projects 5,451 4,748     
 Fair Value  adjustment  (185) (203) 
   18,462   16,394     
 
5.5 Administrative Expenses

  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 Insurance  143   112      
 Advertising and promotions  198   174      
 Legal and consulting fees  1,574   3,220      
 Courier and postage  -     171      
 Management fees  126   172      
 Audit fees - external   1,375   1,330      
 Audit fees -  internal  691   715      
 other   126   183      
 Fair Value - adjustment  (39) (80) 
   4,194   5,997      
 
   5.5.1 Auditors’ Remuneration 
      
  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 Audit fees - external 1,375 1,330     
 
5.6 Staff Costs
        
  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 The staff costs are made up as follows:       
 Salaries and wages 9,658 8,938     
 Reimbursement travel 59 148     
 Staff training and welfare 220 389     
 TOTAL  9,937   9,475     
 

 The MHSC’s staff complement was on average 22 employees ( The previous year’s number was 20 employees).  
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 5.7   Operating Expenses
       
  2010 2009    
  R’000 R’000    
 other Rent  372   271     
 Property & Equipment Lease  1,426   716     
 Loss on disposal  158   -     
 Gain/Loss on Impairment of Assets  755   -     
 Gain/Loss on Derecognition of Assets  51   -     
 Impairment losses on receivables  2,242   736   
 Repairs and maintenance  83   53   
 Stationery and computer expenses   712   827   
 Travel and accommodation   505   635   
 Seminars and meetings  601   168   
 Telephone & Faxes  329   235   
 Technology transfer  117   736   
 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure (note 5.3)  903   4   
 Entertainment  171   -     
 Relocation Costs  154   -     
 Bad Debt  2,408   -     
 Fair Value adjustment  (28) (112)  
   10,959   4,269   

   Entertainment involves CAF (Confederation of African Football Cup) tickets bought for MHSC staff and  
   committee members. 
       
 5.8   Promotion of Health & Safety Expenditure 
     
 2010 2009    
 R’000 R’000    

  9   378     
  
   This is expenditure that is funded through the Admin fines administered to mines after approval by the  
   Minister of Mineral Resources. The related conditional grant income is included in non-exchange revenue.  
   Refer to Note 2.
        
 5.9 Finance Costs        

Finance costs consist of the following      
  
 2010 2009    
 R’000 R’000    
Fair value adjustment on expenses and payables 314 324    
Interest on lease obligations 34 46    
 348   370     
 

 The MHSC rents two photocopiers: a Calabash and a Sharp.      
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   The rate implicit in the relevant agreements, (of 17% and 13.3%, respectively) was used as a basis for  
   estimating the finance costs for the Calabash and Sharp Copiers. The prime lending rate was 15% and 10.5%  
   respectively, at the time of entering into the leases. The lease payments on the Calabash are linked to the  
   prime lending rate, whereas the sharp repayments are fixed.     
   
   The MHSC has entered into two year cellphone contracts at fixed rates with regard to 6 managers. The  
   cellphone costs are capitalised as finance leases using the prime lending rate at the date of the transaction. 
       
6 Cash and Cash Equivalents        

Bank balances consist of cash and short-term, highly liquid investments that are held with registered banking institutions with 
maturities of three months or less and that are subject to insignificant interest rate risk.  Cash and cash equivalents are carried 
at amortised cost. The bank balances consist of the following: 

  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 Mine Safety Research account 325 383     
 Mine Safety Research Investments   97,559 77,381     
 Total Mine Safety Research cash  97,884   77,764     
 
 Administration bank account 1,174 720     
 Administrative Fines  bank account 2,284 2,060     
 Petty cash 2 2     
 Credit card (2) (2) 
   101,342   80,544     
 
 Analysis:       
 Cash on hand and balances with banks  3,783   3,163      
 Short term investments  97,559   77,381      
   101,342   80,544      
 
As required in section 7(2) and 7(3) of the Public Finance Management  Act, the National Treasury has approved the local banks 
where the bank accounts are held. Central Energy Fund (Pty) Limited provides treasury functions on behalf of MHSC through 
terms defined in a service level agreement.         
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7 Levy and Other Receivables
        

 2010 2009     
 R’000 R’000     
Levy receivables (non- exchange)  24,191   23,990      
Impairment of Debtors (10,967) (6,317)     
Opening balance (6,317) (5,591)     
Provision for the year (2,243) (726)     
Total provision (8,560) (6,317)     
Amounts written off during the current year (2,407)  -        
Net Levy receivables:   13,225   17,673      
Other receivables  -     -        
Financial Solutions  6,233   6,233      
Impairment of Financial Solutions (6,233) (6,233)     
Other receivables (exchange)           
Sundry debtors  984   1,990      
Deposits : Rent   518   124      
Study loans (staff )  -     4      
Prepayments 5  23      
Net other receivables   1,507   2,142      
Total levy and other receivables  14,732   19,815      
 

        
 The impairment of receivables has been determined by reference to past default experience and the current  
 economic environment.  The ageing of the trade receivables at year-end is as follows:
  

 2010 2009     
 R’000 R’000     
Current  145   514      
31 to 60 days  -     6,241      
61 to 90 days 6,211  (4)      
91 to 120 days  -    (43)     
121 days plus  17,835   17,282      
Total  24,191   23,990      
 

 Gross carrying amounts:        
  Levy receivables are shown at amortised cost.  The gross carrying amount, before deduction of the fair value adjustments is:

 
 2010 2009     
 R’000 R’000     
Gross carrying amount  22,335   24,193      
Less: Fair value adjustment on closing balance  (551)   (203)      
Less: Impairment Provision  (8,560)   (6,317)      
Net carrying amount  13,225   17,673     
 

  It is estimated that, due to their short term nature, the gross carrying amount of the Other Receivables approximates  
  it’s fair value; hence there has been no fair value adjustment thereof.      
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8  Property, Plant and Equipment
       
     Office Office Computer Research Computer    
   Plant Equip  Furniture  Equip  Equip  Software ICT Total
   R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Year ended 31 March 2010        
        
Opening net carrying amount  192   774   275   425   1,871   2   -     3,539 
Gross carrying amount  1,345   1,058  535 869 3,991  23   -     7,821 
Accumulated depreciation   (1,153)   (284)  (260) (444) (2,120)  (21)   -    (4,282) 
        
Additions  -     113  4 161 -  -   305   583 
Assets disposed - (30) (13) (62) (111) - - (216) 
Adjustment   (66)  (4) (6)  (59)   38   78  (19)
Assets written-off - - -  - - - -  -   
Depreciation  (135)   (145)  (34) (155)  (372)   (56)   (115)  (1,012) 
Reclassification   (292)   (3)   (12)   -     (128)   305  (130) 
Gain/loss on Impairment  -     (2)  - (18)  (735)   -     -    (755) 

Closing net carrying amount    57   352   225   333   594   -     573   2,134 
Gross carrying amount  1,345   709  510 904  2,482   -     689   6,639 
Accumulated depreciation   (1,288)   (357)  (285) (553)  (1,153)   -     (116)  (3,752) 
Accumulated Impairment  -     (2)  - (18)  (735)   -     -    (755) 
        
Year ended 31 March 2009        
    
Opening net carrying amount 327   75   187   263   1,301   7   -     2,160
Gross carrying amount  1,345   230  416 602  3,188   23   -     5,804 
Accumulated depreciation   (1,018)   (155)  (229) (339)  (1,887)   (16)   -    (3,644) 

Adjustments - - - - - - -  -   
Additions  -     462  119 206  803   -     -     1,590 
Assets disposed  -    - - -  -     -     -     -   
Assets written-off  -    - - - -  -     -     -   
Depreciation  (135)   (22)  (31) (44) (233)  (5)   -    (470) 
Reclassification  -     259  - - - - -  259 

Closing net carrying amount    192   774   275   425   1,871   2   -     3,539 
Gross carrying amount 1,345 1,058 535 869 3,991  23   -     7,821 
Accumulated depreciation  (1,153) (284) (260) (444) (2,120)  (21)   -    (4,282) 
           
Included in office equipment is finance lease assets comprising photocopiers with a carrying value of R 113 000 and cellphones 
with a carrying value of R 56 000.       

The Lease agreements for the photocopiers were entered into in April 2006 and May 2008 respectively for a period of 5 years. 
       
The 5 cellphone contracts were entered into for a period of two years between 2008 and 2010.   
 
The total value of property, plant and equipment includes 78 minor assets with a total cost of R 120 000, written down to R1.00 
each.  A Research asset (Horiba Machine) was impaired during the current financial year to the impairment loss of R 735 000.  
A de-recognition loss to the value of R 75 000 was recorded. Assets with a net carrying value of R 158 000 were written off.  
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9          Intangible Assets
        
  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
Opening net carrying amount  168  243     
Gross carrying amount  701  707     
Accumulated amortisation (533) (464)    
 
Additions 144 8     
Adjustments  19  -
Amortisation during year (138) (83)     
Reclassification  (62)  -    
 
Closing net carrying amount  131  168     
Gross carrying amount  787  701     
Accumulated amortisation (656) (533)    
 

10 Exchange Payables

  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
Trade payables  6,810   7,404      
Payroll payables  259   259      
Total exchange payables  7,069   7,663     
 
Non-exchange Payables       
Unallocated deposits: short term portion 36 253     
Unallocated deposits: long term portion  709   379      
Total non-exchange payables  745   632      
 

• Trade payables are reflected at amortised cost.      
• Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are payable within 30 days.  No interest is charged when the amount becomes  
 overdue.  The gross carrying amount of the trade payables (before the fair value adjustment of R 9 000) is R 1 808 000.  The  
 2009 amounts are R 72 000 and R 5 545 000 respectively.       
• There has been no default on payment to any creditor and no terms and conditions were renegotiated.  
• Included in trade payables is an accrual for leave pay, which is based on current salary rates and leave days due at the  
 reporting period.    
• It is estimated that due to their short term nature, the gross carrying amount of the other payables approximates their  
 fair value.        
• The MHSC debt only prescribes in 30 years, which means that the recognition of these unknown deposits as income would  
 be inappropriate.       
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11. Unutilised Administrative Fines
       
 2010 2009     
 R’000 R’000     
Opening balance  1,455   1,326      
Administrative fines collected  224   507     
 
Unutilised during the year for promotion of    
Health and Safety  ( Note 2)  (9)  (378)
Closing balance  1,670   1,455      
 

This liability represents the amount collected on admin fines that has not yet been expended.  The liability should thus ordinarily 
equal the amount of the related (Admin Fines) bank balance (Refer to note no.6).   The difference between the 2 amounts 
comprises promotion of health and safety expenditure that has been approved by the DMR Minister and paid for by the MHSC, 
pending reimbursement by the DMR.       
 
12. Provisions       
 
 12.1 Provision for Performance Bonuses      

  The provision for performance bonuses is based on estimated performance levels and salary rates  
  prevalent at the reporting date.      
 
  2010 2009     
  R’000 R’000     
 Opening balance  758   292      
 Additional provisions  760   757      
 Paid during the year (527) (120)     
 Saving on previous provision (230) (171)     
 Closing balance  760   758      
 
 12.2 RSC Levies      
 
 Provision for RSC levies  2010   2009      
  R’000 R’000     
 Opening balance -  4      
 Addition /Adjustment - (4)     
 Closing balance  -     -    



88 MHSC AnnuAl RepoRt   |  2009/2010

notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents continued...

13 Post Retirement Medical Benefit        

 13.1 Background        

  The MHSC has a commitment to cover medical aid costs for all employees appointed prior to 1 July 2003  
  in the event of them retiring while in the service of the MHSC. This scheme is valued by a qualified actuary  
  on an annual basis.         

 13.2  Present Value of Fund Obligation       
 
  The amount included in the financial position arising from the MHSC’s obligation in respect of the post- 
  retirement medical benefit plan is as follows:       
        

As at
31.3.2010 

(R million)

As at 
31.3.2009 

(R million) % increase

In-service members 0.441 0.844 48%

Continuation Members 0.691 0.509 (36%)

Total Accrued Service Liability 1.132 1.353 16%

        
  The changes in the accrued service liability since the previous valuation present value of fund obligations  
  purpose (as at 31 March 2010) can be explained as follows:     
           

Actual 
(R million)

Accrued Service Liability at 31.3.2009 1.353 

Interest Cost – April 2009 - March 2010 0.121 

Current  Service Cost – April 2009 - March 2010 0.091 

Benefit payments – April 2009 - March 2009 (0.039)

Projected Accrued Service Liability at 31.3.2010 1.526 

Actuarial (gain)/loss (0.394)

Accrued Service Liability at 31.3.2010 1.132 

     
  The actuarial gain arose largely on account of the following experience adjustments and/or changes in the  
  actuarial assumptions:        
  *  Two of the five members who were valued at the previous valuation left over the period. 
  *  IAS 19 prescribes marked-related financial assumptions and there has been an increase of 0.8% in  
   the net discount rate (the difference between the discount rate and the subsidy inflation assumptions). 
      
 13. 3 Future Service Liability (current service cost)      
 
  The future service liability (or current service cost) is calculated as the present day value of the employer’s  
  subsidy to current in-service members that is deemed to accrue over the period 1 April 2010 to 31 March  
  2011.  The estimated future service liability for this period is R 0.091 million. (The corresponding figure for  
  the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 was R0.043 million).     
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 13.4  Projection of Results  to 31 March 2011       
 
  The projected results from 31 March 2010 to 31 March 2011, assuming that the experience follows the  
  assumptions exactly, is as follows:       
        

Actual 
(R million)

Accrued Service Liability at 31.3.2010 1.132 

Interest Cost – April 2010 - March 2011 0.107 

Current  Service Cost – April 2010 - March 2011 0.043

Benefit payments – April 2010 - March 2011 -

Projected Accrued Service Liability at 31.3.2011 1282 

        
 13.5  Sensitivity Analysis        

  The results are dependent on the assumption used. The table below shows how the past service cost as  
  at 31 March 2010 would be impacted by changes to these assumptions:    
            

In-Service Members

Accrued Service 
Liabilities as at 

31.3.2010 (R million) % Increase

Assumptions as above 1.132 -

Discount rate  – increases by 1%  p.a. 0.998 (12%)

Discount rate  – reduces by 1%  p.a. 1.300 15%

Subsidy inflation – increases by 1%  p.a. 1.305 15%

Subsidy inflation – reduces by 1%  p.a. 0.992 (12%)

Retirement age  – 55 1.450 28%

  The tables below show how the current service cost and interest cost for the year to 31 March 2011 would  
  be impacted by changes to the assumptions:       
        

In-Service Members

Current Service Cost 
1.4.2010 - 31.3.2011 

(R million) % Increase

Assumptions as above 0.043 -

Discount rate  – increases by 1%  p.a. 0.035 (19%)

Discount rate  – reduces by 1%  p.a. 0.054 24%

Subsidy inflation – increases by 1%  p.a. 0.054 25%

Subsidy inflation – reduces by 1%  p.a. 0.035 (19%)

Retirement age  – 55 0.074 71%
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In-Service and 
Continuation Members

Interest Cost 
1.4.2010 - 31.3.2011 

(R million) % Increase

Assumptions as above 0.107 -

Discount rate  – increases by 1%  p.a. 0.104 (3%)

Discount rate  – reduces by 1%  p.a. 0.110 3%

Subsidy inflation – increases by 1%  p.a. 0.124 16%

Subsidy inflation – reduces by 1%  p.a. 0.093 (13%)

Retirement age  – 55 0.078 (27%)

   
 13.6  Employer Subsidy Policy       

  The subsidy that has been valued is as follows: 
  *  Employees employed before 1 August 2003 are entitled to a 100% subsidy of Liberty Health  
   Medical Scheme membership costs on the Liberty Platinum Plus option in retirement. In case  
   of death in service of death in retirement of a principal member, his/her dependants may continue  
   membership, in which case MHSC will continue to contribute 70% of these membership costs. 
       
  Employees employed from 1 August 2003 do not qualify for a subsidy in retirement.   
  Any changes that the employer may make to the subsidy policy in future that may have an impact on the  
  liability have been ignored. It is assumed that members remain on Liberty Health Medical Scheme in future. 
       
 13.7  Summary of Membership Data       
 
  Number of Members      

Males Females
Total at 

31.3.2010
Total at 

31.3.2009 % increase

In-Service Members 1 2 3 5 (67%)

Continuation Members 1 0 1 1 0%

Total Members 2 2 4 6 (50%)
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13.9  Movement Over the Current and Past 3 Years
      
  31-Mar-07 31-Mar-08 31-Mar-09 31-Mar-10 31-Mar-11
  Actual Actual Actual Actual Projected
  R million R million R million R million R million
Change in Liability      
Opening Liability 1.272 0.688 0.667 1.353 1.132
 Service cost 0.196 0.092 0.589 0.091 0.043
 Interest Cost 0.11 0.062 0.067 0.121 0.107
Actuarial (Gain)/ Loss (0.89) (0.175) 0.03 (0.394) -
 Benefit Paid - - - (0.039)   - 
Closing Liability 0.688 0.667 1.353 1.132 1.283
Present value of defined benefit obligation 0.688 0.667 1.353 1.132 1.283
Unrecognised Actuarial Gains / (Losses) - - - - - 
Net Liability / (Asset)  0.688 0.667 1.353 1.132 1.283
Service Cost  0.196 0.092 0.08 0.6 0.043
Interest Cost  0.11 0.062 0.067 0.121 0.107
Recognised Actuarial (Gains) / Losses  (0.175) 0.03 (0.394) -
Amount charged to Statement of  
financial performance - (0.021) 0.177 0.327 0.15 
Reconciliation      
Opening Liability / (Asset) 1.272 0.688 0.667 1.353 1.132
 Payments to members  - - - (0.039) -
 Change to statement of financial performance - - 0.177 (0.182) 0.15
Closing Liability / (Asset) - -0.021 0.844 1.132 1.282
Key Actuarial Assumptions      
Discount Rate  - 9.00% 8.50% 9.30% 9.30%
Medical Inflation Rate  - 7.50% 7.00% 7.00% 7.00%

13.8  Assumptions        

The assumptions are shown in the following table:     

As at 31.3.2010 As at 31.3.2009

(a) Discount rate 9.3% 8.5%

(b) Subsidy inflation 7.0% 7.0%

(c) Retirement age 60 60

(d) Proportion of retiring members who 
are  married

80% 80%

(e) Age of spouse Husbands 5 years  older than  wives Husbands 5 years older than  wives

(f) Mortality of in-service members
in accordance with the SA 85-90 (Light) 

ultimate table
in accordance with the SA 85-90 (Light) 

ultimate table

(g) Mortality of continuation members
in accordance with the PA(90) ultimate 

male and female tables
in accordance with the PA(90) ultimate 

male and female tables

(h) Annual rate  of withdrawal owing to 
resignation before retirement

No Withdrawals No Withdrawals
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notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents continued...

15   Correction of Errors      
 
During the current financial year the following errors in the previous financial years’ financial statements were discovered  
and corrected:       

- Research Expenses were understated by R 977 000     
 - The Expenses fair value adjustment was not effected for R 394 000     
 - The Creditors fair value adjustment was not effected for R 72 000     
 - The Photocopiers were incorrectly classified as Operating Leases instead of Finance Leases    
 
 - Leave Pay was incorrectly classified as Provision instead of Accrual by R178 000 
-  Performance Bonus was incorrectly classified as Accrual instead of Provision by R758 000 
 - Fixed assets were misallocated by R 61 000     
-  Accumulated depreciation was understated by R 1000     
- Cellphones costs were incorrectly classified as Operating Expenses instead Finance Leases    
- Post Retirement Medical aid liability understated by R 509 000     
     

14   Finance Lease Liability       
 

Finance lease liability 189 275   
Less: Current portion 95 85   
long term portion 94 190  

        
  Reconciliation between the minimum lease payments and the present value:     
   

Minimum lease payments 190  276   
Payable within 1 year 117 112   
Payable within 1 - 5 years 113 234   
Less interest portion 40  70   
      
Present value of minimum lease payments 190 276  
Payable within 1 year 95 86  
Payable within 1 - 5 years 95 190  

        
Terms and conditions        
 
All the photocopier leases are for an agreed period (i.e. 60 Months) with an option to renew and no escalation.  
      
All the cellphone leases are for an agreed period (i.e. 24 Months) with an option to renew and no escalation.   
     
The related finance lease liabilities are secured by office equipment.         
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15   Correction of Errors (continued)

  The above errors affected the following financial statements items as follows:   
 2010 2009  
 R’000 R’000  
Increase in Research Expenses - 977  
Decrease in Research Expenses - (202)  
Decrease in Administrative Expenses - (80)  
Decrease in Operating Costs - (230)  
Increase in staff costs - 509  
Increase in Finance costs - 368  
Increase in Depreciation - 29  
Total Effect on previous years’  
accumulated surplus - 1371    
 
Increase in Trade and Other Payables - (543)  
Increase in Provisions - (580)  
Increase in Non-Current Assets - 261  
Increase in Post Retirement Med Aid - (509)  
Total Effect on Equity  (1,371)  

      

16 Reconciliation of  Total Surplus for the year to Cash Generated from Operations   
 

 2010 2009  
 R’000 R’000  
Net surplus per statement of financial performance 14,912 24,711  
Adjusted for: (Non cash flow items)    
    
Depreciation and amortisation 1,095 788  
Depreciation adjustment 42 -  
provisions 2 30  
Post Retirement Benefit (221) 686  
Interest received (7,235) (9,285)  
Disposal of Profit or Loss Assets on disposal of assets. 158 121  
Gain/Loss on Derecognition 50 -  
Gain/Loss Impairment of assets 754 -  
Operating surplus before changes in working capital 9,557 17,051  
    
Movement in working capital    
Increase in unutilised administration fines 215  129   
Increase in unallocated deposits  113  246   
Decrease in Finance Lease (86)  275   
Decrease in accounts receivable 5,083 (5,143)  
Decrease in accounts payable (592)  463   
Cash generated by operations  14,290   13,021   
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notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents continued...

17  Commitments       
 
 17.1 Operating Leases      
 
  At the financial position date, the MHSC had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating  
  leases, which fall due as follows: 
        
   2010 2009    
   R’000 R’000    
  1-5 years 1,071 658    
  2 to 5  years – Premises rental 5,357 388    
  TOTAL   6,428   1,046     
 
  Term  3 years   5 years     
  Escalation 9% 10%    
  
 17.2    Research Projects
        
   2010 2009    
   R’000 R’000    
  Authorised and contracted for but not provided for 
  as the projects have not yet started  22,225   24,200     
  Authorised but not contracted for  52,403   23,264     
  Total   74,628   47,464     
  
  These commitments represent potential liabilities where it is uncertain whether a present  
  obligation exists, an outflow of resources is not probable or the amount of the outflow cannot  
  be reliably estimated.       
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18  MHSC Members’ and Executive Management  Emoluments      
  
 18.1   MHSC and Committee members do not earn any fees or receive emoluments. Labour  
  members get reimbursed for travel costs for Council meeting.               
     
 18.2    The independent Audit Committee members are remunerated as follows per sitting: 
  - Chairperson - R 7 500       
  - Other members - R 5 500       
 
 18.3 Executive Management
 
     Company  Performance  Total  
Year end  31 March 2010 Salaries Allowances  contributions  bonuses  R’000  
Ms P Maruping 994 76 26 - 1096 
Ms D Kgoele 759 113 25 - 897 
Mr N Singh 799 84 24 - 907 
Total  2552 273 75 - 2900 

     Company  Performance  Total  
Year end  31 March 2009 Salaries Allowances  contributions  bonuses  R’000  
Ms P Maruping (started 1 September 2008) 683 37 46 75 841  
Ms D Kgoele (started 1 September 2008) 375 66 42 61 544 
Mr N Singh (started 1 October 2008) 359 38 44 44 485 
Total  1417 141   132 180 1870 
 
   
  MHSC pays bonuses in September of each year with respect to the previous financial year ended as  
  at 31st March.  A provision has been made in the current year for performance bonuses that will only  
  be confirmed during September 2010.        
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notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents continued...

19  Related Party Transactions        
        
The only non-arms length transactions with a related party were with the DMR w.r.t  the annual non-conditional grant. 
       
The amount due has been fully paid and there is thus no balance outstanding. Refer to notes 2 and 18.2 for the amounts 
involved.   An amount of R23 000 is owed to the DMR with respect to fax rental costs paid for by DMR before the MHSC could 
open such accounts in it’s own name.        

 19.1 Transactions with Key Management      
 
  Key management consists of executive personnel, (being Ms P Maruping (CEO), Ms D Kgoele (CFO) and  
  Mr N Singh (CROO)), and MHSC members and their family members. There were no loans to key  
  management during the year. The following is a summary of transactions with key management: 
       
MHSC members  Entity  Transaction amount Balance owing Provision for 
    doubtful debt
  2010 2,009 2010 2009 2010 2009
  R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
Mr J Viljoen Anglo Gold Ashanti Limited  4,399  3,588 - 1,849 - -
Mr V Maseko Anglo Gold Ashanti Limited  4,399  3,588 - 1,849 - -
Mr B Nyirenda DRD GOLD Limited  1,072  521 164 936 - -
Dr L La Grange Anglo Platinum  6,209  1,616 1,579 1,120 - -
Mr  T Masondo Anglo Coal  1,043  - 369 - - -
Mr TE Gazi DMR   *      
Mr D Msiza DMR   *      
Dr N T Maku DMR   *      
Mr M Zondi DMR   *      
Mr T Dube DMR   *      
Mr D Maphutha DMR   *      
Mr X Mbonambi DMR   *      
       
Audit Committee Fees
Members      
Dr L Konar   23  22     
Ms L Fosu   15  -     
Ms T Sihlaba   11  -     
Mr Z Fihlani   11  -    
 
        
 The companies listed above contribute their levies under the same legislative provisions and internal 
 MHSC policies applicable to all other MHSC levy receivables.     
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20  Financial Instruments         

  Financial instruments by category:        
  2010     
  Financial assets Fair value Available Effective Loans 
   through profit and loss  or sale interest rate  and receivables 
    Designated  Held Maturity     
  Trade receivables  -  - - - 13,225  
  Other receivables  -  - - - 1,507  
  Investments  -   - - 7.04% 97,559 
  Cash at bank  -  - - 10.00% 3,783 
      
  Financial Liabilities Fair value through profit and loss Other  
   Designated

Trade and other payables - 6,558
Unallocated deposits - 745
Debtors with credit balances - 511

      
  2009     
  Financial assets Fair value Available Loans and 
   through profit and loss  for sale  receivables 
   Designated Held to maturity 
 Trade receivables - - - 17,673  
 Staff loans - - - 4  
 Other receivables - - - 2,142  
 Cash and cash equivalents -  - - 80,544  
  

Financial Liabilities Fair value through profit and loss Other  
   Designated
Trade and other payables -  7,103
Unallocated deposits -  631
Debtors with credit balances -  560   

        
 20.1 Overall Financial Risk Management       
 
  The Treasury function of the MHSC is outsourced to the Central Energy Fund (CEF) and they implement  
  risk mitigation measures on behalf of the entity in terms of a formal agreement.   
     
 20.2 Sensitivity Analysis        

  The MHSC’s surplus funds are not highly sensitive to interest rate fluctuations due to the fact that the  
  investment periods are short. The average movement in the overdraft rate during the financial year was  
  about 1.50 basis points.  A downward movement of interest rates by 1.50% would not have a material  
  impact on the surplus funds at year-end.       
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notes to tHe fInancIal stateMents continued...

 20.3 Market Risk         

  The MHSC is exposed to and manages the following market risks - fair value, interest rate and  price  
  risks. There is minimal foreign currency risk exposure as the entity conducts very few foreign currency  
  transactions of an overall immaterial value. 

  20.3.1 Interest Rate Risk        
   The MHSC’s activities are of such a nature as to not materially expose the entity to interest  
   rate risks. However, the MHSC is exposed to interest rate risk as it invests considerable  
   surplus funds. The relevant risks are managed by the CEF. The risk mitigation measures  
   include the fact that the surplus funds are invested at fixed rates for periods of 180 days and  
   shorter with reputable commercial banks.       
  
  20.3.2 Other Price Risks        
   The MHSC is exposed to price risks on it’s purchases and research expenses. Prices for  
   future purchases and sales of goods and services are generally established on normal  
   commercial terms direct with suppliers and customers. The MHSC considers the price risk  
   to be insignificant.       
 
  20.3.3 Fair Value of Financial Instruments      
   The fair value of financial assets and liabilities are determined as described in note 1.14 above. 
   
   There has been no change to the entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which  
   it manages and measures the risk.       
 
 20.4 Capital Risk        

  As the MHSC does not have borrowings, it is not exposed to capital risk.    
    
 20.5 Credit Risk         

  Financial assets, which potentially subject the MHSC to concentrations of credit risk, consist principally  
  of cash, short-term deposits and trade receivables. The MHSC’s cash equivalents and short-term deposits  
  are placed with high-credit quality financial institutions. Trade receivables are presented net of the  
  allowance for doubtful debt. Credit risk with respect to trade receivables is concentrated in the Mining  
  sector, but is limited due to the large number of customers comprising the MHSC’s customer base  
  and their dispersion across different geographical areas. Accordingly, the MHSC has no significant  
  concentration of credit risk.  The gross carrying amounts of financial assets as reflected in notes 6 and  
  7, included in the financial position represent the MHSC’s exposure to credit risk in relation to these assets.   
  The MHSC does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty.  The age  
  analysis summary is included in note 7 above. Comparison: fair value and carrying amount for  
  discounted amounts.        

 20.6 Liquidity Risk         

  The MHSC manages any liquidity risk it may face by maintaining adequate reserves and liquid resources  
  by continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cashflows. The carrying amounts of financial liabilities  
  included in the financial position represent the MHSC’s exposure to liquidity risk in gross relation to these  
  liabilities.  Accordingly as reflected in note 10, the MHSC has no significant concentrations of liquidity risk  
  as there are no contractual financial liabilities.    
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   20.6.1 Maturity and Carrying Value Analysis      
  

2009/10     
 
   Carrying Contractual  6 months 6 months 
   amount cash flows  or more  or less 
Trade Payables  6,810   7,124  -  7,124  
Payroll Payables  259   259  -  259  
Unallocated deposits  745   745   709   36  
   

2008/09     
 
   Carrying Contractual  6 months 6 months 
   amount cash flows  or more  or less 
Trade Payables  7,404  - - - 
Payroll Payable  841  - - - 
Unallocated deposit  632  - - - 
   

        21  Subsequent Events        

There were no material events subsequent to the statement of financial position date.     
   
22  Reconciliation of the Surplus to the Budget       
 
The reconciliation of the net surplus/deficit per the statement of financial performance with the approved budget is as follows:

    2010 
   Notes R’000 
 
Net surplus per statement of financial performance   14,912  
 
Adjusted for effects of revenue variances  8,050  
 add: Shortfall of actual interest over budget estimates 1  6,850  
 add: Shortfall of actual admin fines over budget estimates 2  1,200  
 
Adjusted for effect of expenditure variances  (22,962) 
 Less: Savings from research expenses budget 3 (20,309) 
 Less: Savings from overhead expenses budget 4 (2,653) 
 
Net surplus per approved budget  0 
   

Explanation of variances        
1.  The decrease in the interest income is as a result of the  drop in interest rates.     
2.  The decrease in the admin fines income is as a result of delays in engaging in promotion of health and safety expenditure  
 during the year.        
3.  The decreased expenditure on research is due to the delayed start of projects and reduced level of special projects. 
4.  The saving in the  overhead costs is as a result of vacancies and the overall reduced research activity levels.  
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23  Standards and Interpretations Issued, Not Yet Effective      
  
At the date of authorisation of these annual financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but 
not yet effective.        

New statement Description Effective date -annual periods 
commencing on or after

GRAP 18 Segment reporting 01-Apr-09

GRAP  21 Impairment of Non Cash Generating Assets TBA

GRAP 23 Revenue from Non Exchange Transactions 
(Taxes and Transfers)

TBA

GRAP 24 Presentation of Budget Information in 
Financial Statements

TBA

GRAP 25 Employee Benefits TBA

GRAP 26 Impairment of Non Cash Generating Assets TBA

GRAP 103 Heritage Assets TBA

GRAP 104 (AC 144) Financial Instruments TBA

    
The adoption of the following standards will not have an impact on the MHSC as they are not applicable to the entity:  
• GRAP 18        
• GRAP 26        
• GRAP103        

It is anticipated that the following standards will result in more disclosure:       
  
However the entity is already compiling most of the information for performance reporting purposes.  It is anticipated that the 
adoption of the following standards will not have a major impact on the MHSC as most of the information is already generated 
and some of the onerous disclosure requirements are not applicable to the MHSC given that those transactions do not occur 
within the entity:
• GRAP 24
• GRAP 25        
• GRAP 26        
• GRAP 104        
        
The standards will be implemented from the effective prescribed date by the Minister once the date gets gazetted.  
      




